
 

 

Am bob ymholiad ynglŷn â’r agenda hwn cysylltwch â Emma Sullivan 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864420   Ebost: sullie@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 3 Gorffennaf 2019 

 
Annwyl Syr/Fadam,  
 
Bydd cyfarfod Is-bwyllgor Cyswllt â’r Cynghorau Cymunedol yn cael ei gynnal yn Siambr y Cyngor - 
Tŷ Penallta, Tredomen, Ystrad Mynach ar Dydd Mercher, 10fed Gorffennaf, 2019 am 7.00 pm i 
ystyried materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda canlynol.  Mae croeso i chi ddefnyddio’r iaith Gymraeg yn y 
cyfarfod, a dylid rhoi cyfnod rhybudd o 3 diwrnod gwaith os ydych yn dymuno gwneud hynny.  Bydd 
cyfieithu ar y pryd yn cael ei ddarparu ar gais. 
 
Bydd cyngyfarfod yn cael ei gynnal am 6.30pm i bob Aelod Bwrdeistref Sirol yn yr Ystafell Ebwy a holl 
Aelodau Cynghorau Cymunedol yn Siambr y Cyngor. 
 

Atgoffir yr aelodau os oes ganddynt unrhyw faterion penodol y maent yn dymuno eu codi yn y cyfarfod, 
dylent roi gwybod i'r Clerc cyn y dyddiad hwnnw, i sicrhau bod ymateb ar gael 

 
Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR DROS DRO 
 

A G E N D A 
Tudalennau 

  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 
  

2  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 
 
Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers.  

 

Public Document Pack



3  I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 
  

 
4  Is-bwyllgor Cyswllt â'r Cynghorau Cymunedol 13eg Mawrth 2019. 

1 - 6  
 

5  Materion yn Codi. 
  

 
6  Lefel Seilwaith Cymunedol (CIL) - Cyflwyniad - Lisa James a Paul Cooke yn mynychu. 

  
 

I drafod y materion canlynol a godwyd gan y Pwyllgor Cyswllt Cyngor Tref a Chymuned: - 
 
7  Cynrychiolwyr enwebedig Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned Caerffili i Fwrdd Gwasanaethau 

Cyhoeddus Caerffili. 
  

 
8  Strategaeth Toiledau CBSC (Diweddariad). 

7 - 78  
 

9  Gorfodaeth Parcio Sifil CBSC - Gorchmynion Traffig (Diweddariad). 
79 - 102  

 
 
Cylchrediad: 
Cynghorwyr A. Angel, C. Andrews, A. Farina-Childs, A. Gair, A.G. Higgs, M.P. James, V. James, 
L. Jeremiah, Ms P. Leonard, Mrs T. Parry, J. Ridgewell, Mrs M.E. Sargent, C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, 
R. Whiting a B. Zaplatynski 
 
Aelod Cabinet:  C.J. Cuss (Aelod Cabinet dros Wasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles) 
 
Cynghorydd Cymunedol/Cynghorwyr Tref 
Yandle (Aber Valley Community Council), Mr J. Moore (Argoed Community Council), H. Llewellyn 
(Bargoed Town Council), Mrs J. Winslade (Bedwas, Trethomas and Machen Community Council), 
D. Davies (Blackwood Town Council), Mrs J. Hibbert (Caerphilly Town Council), P. Roberts (Darran 
Valley Town Council), T. Hall (Draethen, Waterloo and Rudry Community Council), J. A. Pritchard 
(Gelligaer Community Council), C.P. Mann (Llanbradach and Pwlly-y-Pant Community Council), Reed 
(Llanbradach and Pwllypant Community Councillor), Ms J. Rao (Maesycwmmer Community Council), 
Mrs G. Davies (Nelson Community Council), Gingell (New Tredegar Community Council), B. Allen 
(Penyrheol, Trecenydd and Energlyn Community Council), D.T. Williams (Rhymney Community Council), 
J. Blackburn (Risca East Community Council), B. Hancock (Risca Town Council), J. Leek (Van 
Community Council) a T. Graham (Van Community Council) 
 
Clerc i holl Gynghorau Cymunedol/Tref a Swyddogion Priodol 
 
SUT FYDDWN YN DEFNYDDIO EICH GWYBODAETH 

Bydd yr unigolion hynny sy’n mynychu cyfarfodydd pwyllgor i siarad/roi tystiolaeth yn cael eu henwi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod 
hynny, weithiau bydd hyn yn cynnwys eu man gweithio neu fusnes a’r barnau a fynegir. Bydd cofnodion o’r cyfarfod gan gynnwys 
manylion y siaradwyr ar gael i’r cyhoedd ar wefan y Cyngor ar www.caerffili.gov.uk. ac eithrio am drafodaethau sy’n ymwneud ag 
eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  
Mae gennych nifer o hawliau mewn perthynas â’r wybodaeth, gan gynnwys yr hawl i gael mynediad at wybodaeth sydd gennym 
amdanoch a’r hawl i gwyno os ydych yn anhapus gyda’r modd y mae eich gwybodaeth yn cael ei brosesu. 
Am wybodaeth bellach ar sut rydym yn prosesu eich gwybodaeth a’ch hawliau, ewch i’r Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd Cyfarfodydd 
Pwyllgor Llawn ar ein gwefan http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd  neu cysylltwch â Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol drwy 
e-bostio griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk  neu ffoniwch  01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd


 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

COMMUNITY COUNCIL LIAISON SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD AT COUNCIL OFFICES, PENALLTA HOUSE, 
YSTRAD MYNACH ON 13TH MARCH 2019 AT 6.00PM 

 
 

 
PRESENT: 

  
Councillor J. Ridgewell - Chair   

Community Councillor J. Rao - Vice Chair 
 

Councillors: 
 

 A. Gair, A. Whitcombe, R. Whiting, B. Zaplatynski  
 
    

Community/Town Council Representatives 
 

Argoed     - J. Moore 
Bargoed    - H. Llewellyn, Mrs. H. Williams (Clerk) 
Blackwood    - D. Davies 
Darran Valley    - R. Chapman 
Draethen, Waterloo and Rudry  - B. Hancock (Clerk) 
Gelligaer    - J. Pritchard, Ms. C. Mortimer (Clerk) 
Llanbradach    - Mrs. A. Reed, Ms. C. Mortimer (Clerk) 
Maesycwmmer   - Ms. J. Rao (Vice Chair) 
Nelson     - Mrs. G. Davies 
New Tredegar    - Mrs B. Gingell 
Risca Town     - B. Hancock, B. Campbell (Clerk)  
Van     - T. Graham (Acting Clerk) 

 
 

Together with:- 
 

D. Powell (Lead Commissioner, Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales), S. 
Williams (Chief Executive, Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales), M. 
Redmond (Deputy Chief Executive (Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales) 
and E. Sullivan (Senior Committee Services Officer) 
 

 
1. APOLOGIES 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A. Angel, C. Andrews, C. Cuss, A. 
Farina-Childs, A.G Higgs, L. Jeremiah, P. Leonard, T. Parry, M. James, V. James, M.E. 
Sargent and C. Thomas. 

 
Community Councillors A. Deblasi (Aber Valley), H. Llewellyn (Bargoed), J. Winslade 
(Bedwas, Trethomas and Machen), J. Hibbert (Caerphilly), J. Garland (Draethen, Waterloo & 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

 
 

Rudry), B. Allen (Penyrheol, Trecenydd & Energlyn), D.T. Williams (Rhymney), J. Blackburn 
(Risca East) and J. Leek (Van) 

 
and Clerks S. Hughes (Aber Valley), G. James (Argoed), P. Davy (Caerphilly), G. Williams 
(Darran Valley), R. Kedward (Maesycwmmer), T. White (Nelson), D. Gronow (New Tredegar), 
H. Treherne (Penyrheol, Trecenydd & Energlyn), G. Williams (Rhymney) and G. James (Risca 
East). 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest received at the beginning or during the course of the 
meeting. 
 
 

3. MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21st November 2018 (a copy had been sent to each 
member) were received and noted. 

 
MATTERS ARISING  
 
In relation to Minute No. 13, Caerphilly County Borough – Waste Strategy, clarification was 
sought in relation to the progress of the working group.  The Senior Committee Services 
Officer confirmed that a copy of the Waste Strategy had been circulated to all clerks in 
February and agreed to send a paper copy to the Community Councillor. 
 
In relation to Minute No. 9, Budget 2019/20 – Members acknowledged the deferred savings in 
relation to the final budget as a result of consultation responses but were of the opinion that 
more needed to be done with communities prior to the budget setting process and the 
compilation of draft proposals to avoid causing unnecessary anxiety to the groups and 
services identified. 

 
4. CAERPHILLY ELECTORAL REVIEW – PRESENTATION FROM THE LOCAL 

DEMOCRACY AND BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR WALES 
 
 Mr David Powell, Leader Commissioner for the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission 

for Wales introduced the presentation which outlined the role and responsibilities of the 
organisation and the scope of the review. 

 
 The review will propose the pattern of electoral wards for the entire council area and not just 

where there are levels of electoral inequality.  It will propose the total number of councillors, 
the number and boundaries of electoral wards, the number of councillors for each ward and 
the names of electoral wards.  The statutory criterion to be used was confirmed along with 
how the Council size would be defined, it was noted that Caerphilly would be placed in 
Category 2.  As such Councillor to population ratio in Caerphilly should be 1:3,000, which 
would equate to an overall Council size aim of 60 Members.  However the Commission has 
set certain constraints in relation to Council size and when applied to Caerphilly would give an 
aim of 66 Councillors a ratio of one Councillor to 1,971 electors. 

 
 The building blocks for electoral wards were detailed and what the Commission would 

consider when reviewing.  Members were referred to the colour map handout and the areas of 
concern illustrated therein were explained, it was noted that there were 7 wards with a 
variance of greater than 25%. 

 
 In terms of effective representation it was confirmed that these would be judged on the quality 

of the evidence presented.  This should take into account the statutory requirements and 

Page 2



 

 
 

Commission policies, suggest an alternative as well as setting out an objection and consider 
the consequences across the widest possible area. 

 
 In conclusion Members were advised of the 5 stages for the review and the timetable for each 

stage was detailed.  It was confirmed that the new wards would come into force for the May 
2022 local government elections. 

 
 The Chair thanked Mr Powell and his colleagues for attending and for their informative 

presentation and Members questions were welcomed. 
 
 Clarification was sought in relation to the accuracy of the data used for the review and it was 

confirmed that the latest data possible was being utilised. 
 
 A Member referred to a new building development and an anomaly with regard to its position 

in Hengoed/Ystrad Mynach Ward.  It was noted that this type of disparity could be considered 
by the review and the Commission would welcome views on this as part of the initial 
consultation process. 

 
 Members queried whether the level of deprivation was taken into account when setting the 

ratio of Councillors to population, it was felt that due to the unique nature of the issues related 
to poverty and deprivation, wards with higher levels often generated a greater workload.  
Confirmation was given that this element was taken into consideration by the review. 

 
 Further clarification was sought in relation to parliamentary boundary reviews and whether it 

would be possible for them to be more aligned the local boundaries.  The way in which the 
rolling review programmes were managed was explained and it was noted that local 
boundaries would be used to inform parliamentary boundaries.  Members agreed that it might 
be better for the electorate to have the same democratic options for all elections. 

 
 

TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCIL LIAISON COMMITTEE  
 
Consideration was given to the following items raised by the Town and Community Council Liaison 
Committee: - 

 
5. CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL LOCAL TOILET STRATEGY – UPDATE 
 

The Officer provided an update on the position of the draft Local Toilet Strategy and confirmed 
that the consultation exercise closed on Friday 8th March 2019 with responses currently being 
analysed, the outcome of the consultation and the final proposed Local Toilet Strategy will be 
reported to Cabinet for approval on the 15th May 2019.  The Officer emphasised that the duty 
to prepare a local toilets strategy does not require local authorities to provide and maintain 
public toilets directly and confirmed that the draft strategy does acknowledge the MTFP 
proposal to close the Council’s public toilets. 
 
The Liaison Committee expressed serious concern in relation to the fact that the MTFP 
decision to close public conveniences was made while the strategy was still going through the 
consultation process.  They were of the opinion that these two processes were in direct 
conflict and as a result of the two elements being under consultation at the same time, many 
members of the public and Community Councils had been left with the false impression that 
the strategy would provide more time for the future of public conveniences to be considered. 
 
The Liaison Committee expressed concern at the high level of public impact the closures 
would have on families, older people, businesses, drivers etc. who regularly utilise the 
facilities and the possible impact that this could have on footfall.  The level of complaints that 

Page 3



 

 
 

this decision would generate was emphasised and further concerns were expressed in 
relation to the impact on public health and hygiene. 
 
The Officer confirmed that there were statutory deadlines attached to the production of the 
toilet strategy over which the Council had no authority and reiterated that there was no duty 
under the legislation for Local Authorities to provide and manage public conveniences only to 
produce a strategy.  The Officer confirmed that she would feedback all the concerns raised to 
the Head of Public Protection and Environmental Health Manager. 
 
The Liaison Committee expressed their frustration on behalf of residents over the consultation 
process and the money and time that had been spent in this regard, which seemed to them to 
have been pointless given the decision to close public conveniences being made ahead of the 
strategy’s completion. 
 
Reference was made to the fact the on-line consultation questionnaire had closed early 
preventing many residents from responding.  The Officer apologised for the error and 
confirmed that it had been quickly reopened once the mistake had been reported. 
 
The Liaison Committee also expressed their frustration that no Officers from the Communities 
Directorate had been able to be present at this evenings meeting and a Member advised that 
he would be writing to the Chief Executive about this lack of representation.  Community 
Councillors also expressed their concern at the lack of Officer attendance and confirmed that 
they would also write to the Chief Executive and express their disappointment in the lack of 
formal representation. 

 
6. CAERPHILLY TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCILS REPRESENTATION ON THE 

CAERPHILLY PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD (PSB) – UPDATE 
 
 The Officer referred the Committee to the update from the Public Services Board (PSB) tabled 

at the meeting and highlighted sections therein, in particular ‘PSB is really keen to maintain its 
dialogue with Town and Community Councils and, at its March the 5th 2019, meeting decided 
that they would be keen to have a presentation from one of two representatives of Town and 
Community Councils on how they can work more closely with the PSB on improving the well-
being of communities.  While none of the Town and Community Councils in the county 
borough are directly caught by the Act, not having the necessary turnover, they are still 
important partners and the PSB is very keen to know what the sector can delivery in their 
areas that compliments the well-being objectives of the PSB.  A slot can be cleared at the 
September 3rd PSB should this offer be accepted.’  ‘The PSB also noted that there are 
requests for PSB members to attend Liaison Committee.  As the Wellbeing Plan is so wide, 
and covers so may partners, it may be better for the Committee to decide what area of 
delivery they would engagement on.  The PSB can then consider who would be the best 
person, or persons, to attend Committee.’ 

 
 The Liaison Committee welcomed the opportunity to present to the PSB and to have 

representatives attend future meetings.  Thanks were expressed to Mr Bob Campbell for his 
efforts in this regard. 

 
7. CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL BUDGET 2019/20 – UPDATE 
 
 The Community Council Liaison Officers referred the Committee to the report to Council on 

the 21st February 2019, circulated to all Clerks prior to the meeting which outlined the final 
Budget for 2019/20 and detailed the rationale behind the deferred savings as detailed in 
section 4.3.2 of the report. 

 
 The Committee welcomed the deferred savings but felt that the final budget needed to be 

more widely communicated in terms of the services to be cut and final savings to be made.  It 
was also felt that Newsline and the Webpages needed to be more reflective of one another in 

Page 4



 

 
 

terms of content and for the benefit of those not online, the Newsline publication should be 
used to its fullest extent to communicate where services would be lost as well as saved.  
Members reiterated their opinion that the final budget decisions needed to be as widely 
communicated as the proposals. 

 
 The meeting closed at 7:15pm 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 

COMMUNITY COUNCIL LIAISON COMMITTEE – 10TH JULY 2019 

CCBC TOILET STRATEGY UPDATE 

Response from the Environmental Health Manager and Head of Public Protection 

Local Toilet Strategy 

Our strategy has been developed in accordance with guidance published by Welsh Government 

(attached at Appendix 1 and circulated to Community Councils on the 3rd July 2018) and has been 

approved by Cabinet, 15th May 2019 (report circulated to Community Councils on the 8th May 2019 

https://democracy.caerphilly.gov.uk/documents/s28833/Local%20Toilets%20Strategy.pdf?LLL=0 ). 

The Committee reporting format was followed, which includes a section on future generations (extract 

from the report below) and the Future Generations Commissioner was consulted on the strategy (her 

response is attached at Appendix 2): - 

“8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Wellbeing of Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015 is about improving the social, economic, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales. It requires public bodies to think more about the long-
term, working with people and communities, looking to prevent problems and take a more joined up 
approach. This will create a Wales that we all want to live in, now and in the future. The Act puts in place 
seven well-being goals: 
 
• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language 
• A globally responsible Wales 
The draft Local Toilets Strategy supports all seven of the above goals. 
 
8.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 sets out the sustainable development 
principle against which all public bodies in Wales should assess their decision-making. The aim of the 
legislation is to ensure the well-being of future generations through maximising the contribution public 
bodies make towards the well-being goals. In using the sustainable development principle it is incumbent 
that the authority considers the whole of the population it serves and considers the effect of its actions on 
future generations. The principle, also known as the five ways of working is assessed as below: 
 
LONG TERM - Securing the provision of toilet facilities into the future requires a strategic approach that 
maximises available provision across the public, private, and voluntary sector 
The council portfolio of public toilet blocks across the whole of the authority is not likely to be sustainable 
in the long term due to cuts in the revenue available to the local authority. The financial climate means 
that it is important to consider how local toilet provision can be maximised for existing and future 
generations. 
 
INVOLVEMENT - An extensive consultation has taken place with the community. 
Understandably residents wish to see as many toilet facilities as possible and in locations where they are 
most needed. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8

https://democracy.caerphilly.gov.uk/documents/s28833/Local%20Toilets%20Strategy.pdf?LLL=0


PREVENTION - The promotion of well-being now prevents health related problems in the future and 
reduces demand on public services. The council has made toilets available to the public from many of its 
buildings. 
 
COLLABORATION - We have encouraged and collaborated with certain private businesses across the 
county. Such business owners have been invited to volunteer their facilities for us to non-paying 
customers. 
 
INTEGRATION - We have considered how the proposed strategy contributes to well-being objectives by 
promoting clean safe facilities in the locations they are required.” 
 
Town Centre Public Toilets 
 
We have reached an agreement with the Taxi Drivers Association that they will operate the Caerphilly 

Bus Station toilets. This arrangement is being supported by funding which Caerphilly Town Council has 

recently approved to install coin operated entry mechanisms. 

The Taxi Drivers Association has also offered to work with Town and Community Councils at other 

locations in view of taking on the responsibility via a tenancy at will. Expressions of interest in taking up 

this offer should be made via Brodie Thomson-Payne, Corporate Property Services, Caerphilly County 

Borough Council at THOMSB1@CAERPHILLY.GOV.UK . 

The developers of the new Artisan Market in Blackwood have indicated their intention to provide toilets 

for public use and confirmation and timescales are awaited. 

There are discussions ongoing in relation to the other 3 former public toilet blocks (Risca, Ystrad 

Mynach, and Bargoed), but no firm proposals at the time of writing. 

Public Use Toilets 

Below are the locations of Council Buildings with toilets available for public use: - 

Location Post code 

Aberbargoed Education Centre NP120BD 

Abercarn Cemetery NP115JS 

Abercarn Library NP115DT 

Abertridwr Library CF834EJ 

Abertridwr Welfare Park CF834AG 

Bargoed Library (inc Customer Services) CF818QR 

Bedwas Cemetery CF838DR 

Bedwas Leisure Centre CF838BJ 

Bedwas Library CF838BJ 

Bedwellty Cemetery NP120BD 

Blackwood Library (inc Customer Services) NP121AJ 

Blackwood Miners Institute NP121BB 

Caerphilly Leisure Centre CF833SW 

Caerphilly Library (inc Customer Service 
Centre) 

CF831JL 

Caerphilly Morgan Jones Park CF831AB 

Cefn Fforest Leisure Centre NP123JR 

Centre of Sporting Excellence CF827EP 

Cwmcarn Forest Drive NP117FE 

Dan-y-graig Cemetery NP116DL 

Heolddu Leisure Centre CF819GF 
Page 8

mailto:THOMSB1@CAERPHILLY.GOV.UK


Llanbradach Library CF833LB 

Llancaiach Fawr CF466ER 

Nelson Library CF466NF 

New Tredegar Leisure Centre NP246XF 

New Tredegar Library NP246EF 

Newbridge Leisure Centre NP115FE 

Oakdale Library NP110HN 

Parc Cwm Darran Centre CF819NR 

Parc Cwm Darran, Campsite CF819NR 

Penallta Country Park CF827GN 

Pengam Library NP123AB 

Pen-y-Fan Pond Country Park NP113AZ 

Pontllanfraith Leisure Centre NP122DA 

Rhymney Library NP225NU 

Risca Leisure Centre NP116GH 

Risca Library (inc Customer Services) NP116BW 

Risca Old Cemetery & Chapel NP117AH 

Sirhowy Valley Country Park NP117BD 

St Cenydd Leisure Centre CF832RP 

Sue Noake Leisure Centre CF828AA 

The Kiosk, Ystrad Mynach Park  

The Visitor Centre, Caerphilly CF831JL 

Ty Penallta Corporate Offices  (inc 
Customer Services) 

CF827PG 

Waunfawr Park Kiosk and Community 
Garden 

NP117PH 

Winding House NP246EG 

Ystrad Mynach Library CF827BB 

 

Below are the locations of Private Business Provides with public access toilets:-  

 

Location Post code 

Elliot’s Café  - White Rose Info  & Res. 
Centre, Cross Street, Elliots Town   

NP24 6EF        

The Living Room – White Rose Medical 
Centre, White Rose Way, New Tredegar 

NP24 EE 

Le Café – 103 High Street, Blackwood  
 

NP12 1PN 

Argoed Baptist Chapel  - High Street, 
Argoed,  
 

NP12 0HG 

Tyfu Café – 97 Cardiff Road, Caerphilly  
 

CF83 1FQ 

Chocolate Dragon Café – 49 Tredegar 
Street, Risca,   
 

NP11 6BW 

Chat and Snack – 132 Newport Road, 
Cwmcarn 

NP11 7LZ 

Page 9



 
 

 

Below are the locations of Health Care Providers who display the public access sticker: - 

Location  Post code 

Court House Medical Centre Caerphilly 
 

CF83 3GH 

North Celynen Medical Centre Crumlin 
 

NP11 4PQ 

North Celynen Medical Centre Newbridge NP11 4RA 
 

Page 10



 

Below are the opening times for the public use toilets identified in the Local Toilets Strategy, the full range of facilities available are also detailed in the 

document. 

  Opening Times 

Name of 
Location Postcode 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

English Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close 

Aberbargoed 
Education 

Centre 

NP12 0BE 
09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 

Aberbargoed 
Library 

CF81 9BB 
00.00 00.00 

9.30 
14.00 

13.00 
18.00 

9.30 
14.00 

13.00 
17.00 

9.30 
14.00 

13.00 
17.00 

00.00 00.00 00.00 00.0 00.00 00.00 

Abercarn 
Cemetery 

  
08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 

Abercarn 
Library 

NP11 5DT 09:30 
14.00 

13.00 
17:00 

00:00 00:00 
09:30 
14.00 

13.00 
18:00 

09:30 
14.00 

13.00 
17:00 

00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

Abertridwr 
Library 

CF83 4EJ 09:30 
14.00 

13:00 
18.00 

09:30 
14.00 

13:00 
17.00 

00:00 00:00 14:00 18:00 
09:30 
14.00 

13:00 
17.00 

09:30 13:00 00:00 00:00 

Abertridwr 
Welfare Park 

  
07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 00:00 00:00 

P
age 11



  Opening Times 

Name of 
Location Postcode 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

English Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close 

Bargoed 
Library (inc 
Customer 
Services) 

CF81 8QR 09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
 

16:00 00:00 00:00 

Bedwas 
Cemetery 

  
08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 

Bedwas 
Leisure 
Centre 

CF83 8BJ 
17:00 22:30 17:00 21:30 17:00 22:30 17:00 21:30 17:00 22:00 09:00 16:00 00:00 00:00 

Bedwas 
Library 

CF83 8BJ 09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

14:00 18:00 
09:30 
13:00 

13:00 
15:00 

00:00 00:00 
09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 13:00 00:00 00:00 

Bedwellty 
Cemetery 

  
08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 

Blackwood 
Library (inc 
Customer 
Services) 

NP12 1AJ 09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13;00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 16:00 00:00 00:00 

Blackwood 
Miners 
Institute 

NP12 1BB 
10:00 19:45 10:00 19:45 10:00 19:45 10:00 19:45 10:00 19:45 10:00 12:45 00:00 00:00 

P
age 12



  Opening Times 

Name of 
Location Postcode 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

English Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close 

Caerphilly 
Leisure 
Centre 

CF83 3SW 
06:15 22:00 06:15 22:00 06:15 22:00 06:15 22:00 06:15 22:00 07:15 18:00 07:15 22:00 

Caerphilly 
Library (inc 
Customer 
Service 
Centre) 

CF83 1JL 09:30 
13:00 

14;00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13;00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 16:00 00:00 00:00 

Caerphilly 
Morgan 

Jones Park 

  
07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 07:00 18:00 

Cefn Fforest 
Leisure 
Centre 

NP12 3JR 
07:15 20:30 07:15 20:30 07:15 20:30 07:15 20:30 07:15 20:30 07:15 20:30 09:00 15:30 

Centre of 
Sporting 

Excellence 

CF82 7EP 
07:00 21:30 07:00 22:00 07:00 22:00 07:00 22:00 07:00 22:00 08:00 18:00 08:00 18:00 

Cwmcarn 
Forest Drive 

  
09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 

Dan-y-graig 
Cemetery 

CF81 9HT 
08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 

P
age 13



  Opening Times 

Name of 
Location Postcode 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

English Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close 

Deri Library 
 09:30 

13:00 
14:00 
18:00 

00.00 00.00 
09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

00.00 00.00 00.00 00.00 00.00 00.00 00:00 00:00 

Heolddu 
Leisure 
Centre 

CF81 9GF 
09:00 22:00 07:00 22:00 07:00 22:00 07:00 22:00 09:00 21:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 

Llanbradach 
Library 

CF83 3LB 
00.00 00.00 00.00 00.00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

00.00 00.00 
09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

00.00 00.00 00:00 00:00 

Llancaiach 
Fawr 

CF46  6ER 
00:00 00:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 

Machen 
Library 

 
00.00 00.00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

00.00 00.00 
09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

00.00 00.00 09:30 13:00 00.00 00:00 

Nelson 
Library 

CF46  6NF 09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

00:00 00:00 
09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

00:00 00:00 
09:30
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 13:00 00:00 00:00 

New 
Tredegar 
Leisure 
Centre 

NP24 6XF 
15:30 21:00 09:30 21:00 09:30 21:00 15:30 21:00 09:30 21:00 15:30 20:00 10:00 14:00 

New 
Tredegar 
Library 

NP24 6EF 09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

00:00 00:00 
09:30 
14:00 

13:00
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

P
age 14



  Opening Times 

Name of 
Location Postcode 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

English Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close 

Newbridge 
Leisure 
Centre 

NP11 5FE 
06:30 22:00 06:30 22:00 06:30 22:00 06:30 22:00 06:30 22:00 08:00 18:00 08:45 21:00 

Oakdale 
Library 

NP11 0HN 
00:00 00:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00
17:00 

00:00 00:00 
09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

Parc Cwm 
Darran 
Centre 

CF81 9NR 
07:00 19:00 07:00 19:00 07:00 19:00 07:00 19:00 07:00 19:00 07:00 19:00 07:00 19:00 

Parc Cwm 
Darran, 

Campsite 

CF81 9NR 
09:00 17:00 07:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 

Penallta 
Country Park 

CF82 7GN 
09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 

Pengam 
Library 

NP12 3AB 
00.00 00.00 

9.30 
14.00 

13.00 
18.00 

00.00 00.00 
9.30 
14.00 

13.00 
18.00 

00.00 00.00 00.00 00.0 00.00 00.00 

Pen-y-Fan 
Pond Country 

Park 

NP13 2DT 
09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 

Pontllanfraith 
Leisure 
Centre 

NP12 2DA 
10:00 22:00 10:00 22:00 10:00 22:00 10:00 22:00 13:00 22:00 10:00 18:00 10:00 18:00 

Rhymney 
Library 

NP22 5NU 09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

00.00 00.00 00:00 00:00 

P
age 15



  Opening Times 

Name of 
Location Postcode 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

English Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close 

Risca Leisure 
Centre 

NP11 6GH 
06:15 22:00 06:15 22:00 06:15 22:00 06:15 22:00 06:15 22:00 07:45 19:30 07:45 19:30 

Risca Library 
(inc 

Customer 
Services) 

NP11 6BW 09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
 

16:00 00:00 00:00 

Risca Old 
Cemetery & 

Chapel 

NP11 7AH 
08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 08:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 09:00 19:30 

Sirhowy 
Valley 

Country Park 

CF83 2RP 
09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 

St Cenydd 
Leisure 
Centre 

  
16:00 22:00 16:00 22:00 16:00 22:00 16:00 22:00 16:00 22:00 16:00 22:00 09:00 17:00 

Sue Noake 
Leisure 
Centre 

  
17:00 22:00 17:00 22:00 17:00 21:00 17:00 22:00 17:00 21:00 10:00 16:00 10:00 16:00 

The Kiosk, 
Ystrad 

Mynach Park 

CF83 1JL 
08:00 19:00 08:00 19:00 08:00 19:00 08:00 19:00 08:00 19:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

The Visitor 
Centre, 

Caerphilly 

  
10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 

P
age 16



  Opening Times 

Name of 
Location Postcode 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

English Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close 

Ty Penallta 
Corporate 

Offices  (inc 
Customer 
Services) 

NP11 7FE 
09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 09:00 17:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

Waunfawr 
Park Kiosk 

and 
Community 

Garden 

  
07:30 19:00 07:30 19:00 07:30 19:00 07:30 19:00 07:30 19:00 12:00 16:00 12:00 16:00 

Winding 
House 

NP24 6EG 
00:00 00:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 10:00 17:00 11:00 16:00 00:00 00:00 

Ystrad 
Mynach 
Library 

CF82 7BB 09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
17:00 

09:30 
 

14:00 
 

09:30 
14:00 

13:00 
18:00 

09:30 
 

13:00 00:00 00:00 

Elliot’s Café  - 
White Rose 
Info  & res. 

Centre, Cross 
Street, Elliots 

Town   

NP24 6EF        
09:00 18:00 09:00 18:00 09:00 18:00 09:00 18:00 09:00 18:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

The Living 
Room – 

White Rose 
Medical 

Centre, White 
Rose Way, 

New 

NP24 EE 
09:30 15:00 09:30 15:00 00:00 00:00 09:30 15:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

 

P
age 17



  Opening Times 

Name of 
Location Postcode 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

English Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close 

Tredegar 

Le Café – 
103 High 
Street, 

Blackwood  

NP12 1PN 
08:00 15:00 08:00 15:00 08:00 15:00 08:00 15:00 08:00 15:00 08:00 15:00 00:00 00:00 

Argoed 
Baptist 

Chapel  - 
High Street, 

Argoed, 

NP12 0HG 
00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 10:00 16:00 10:00 16:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

Tyfu Café 
CF83 1FQ 

08:30 15:00 08:30 15:00 08:30 15:00 08:30 15:00 08:30 15:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

Chocolate 
Dragon Café 

– 49 
Tredegar 

Street, Risca,   

NP11 6BW 
08:00 16:00 08:00 16:00 08:00 16:00 08:00 16:00 08:00 16:00 08:00 16:00 00:00 00:00 

Chat and 
Snack Café 

NP11 7LZ 
09:00 15:00 09:00 15:00 09:00 13:30 09:00 15:00 09:00 15:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

Court House 
Medical 
Centre, 

Caerphilly 

CF83 3GH 

8:30 18:30 8:30 18:30 8:30 18:30 8:30 18:30 8:30 18:30 
00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

P
age 18



  Opening Times 

Name of 
Location Postcode 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

English Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close Open Close 

North 
Celynen 
Crumlin 

NP11 4PQ 

8:00 18:30 8:00 18:30 7:30 19:00 8:00 18:30 8:00 18:30 
00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

North 
Celynen 

Newbridge 

NP11 4RA 

8:00 13:00 8:00 13:00 8:00 13:00 8:00 13:00 8:00 13:00 
00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

 

 

Appendix 1: Welsh Government Guidance – Local Toilet Strategy. 

Appendix 2: Response from Future Generations Commissioner. 

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 20



The Provision of Toilets in Wales: 
Local Toilets Strategies
Statutory Guidance
June 2018

Part 8 of the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017: 
Provision of Toilets

    © Crown copyright 2018     WG32533

Digital ISBN: 978 1 78937 506 0

Appendix 1

Page 21



2 
 

GUIDANCE ON PROVISION OF TOILETS IN WALES:  
LOCAL TOILETS STRATEGIES 
 
Audience:  Local authorities; community councils; premises owned, occupied or funded 

by public authorities which maintain toilet facilities; highways authorities; 
privately owned premises which maintain toilet facilities; and local and 
national bodies in Wales with an interest in the provision of toilets for public 
use. 

 
Overview: This document provides guidance for local authorities on duties and powers 

introduced under Part 8 of the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 which places 
a duty on local authorities (as defined in section 124 of the Public Health 
(Wales) Act 2017) to prepare and publish a local toilets strategy for its area.   

 
Action  
required:  Local authorities must have regard to this statutory guidance. 
 
Further 
information: Enquires about this document should be directed to: 

Health Protection Policy and Legislation Branch, 
Public Health Division, 
Health and Social Services Group, 
Welsh Government, 
Cathays Park, 
Cardiff, 
CF10 3NQ 
e-mail: LocalToiletsStrategy@gov.wales 

 
Additional  
copies: This document and further information can be accessed from the Welsh 

Government website at:  
https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/local-toilets-strategies-statutory-
guidance-local-authorities 

Related  
documents: Technical Guidance: National Map of Toilets Identified in Local Toilets 

Strategies 
https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/local-toilets-strategies-statutory-
guidance-local-authorities 
 
Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2017/2/contents/enacted 

 

Permission to reproduce extracts from British Standards is granted by BSI Standards Limited (BSI). No 
other use of this material is permitted.  British Standards can be obtained in PDF or hard copy formats 
from the BSI online shop: www.bsigroup.com/Shop  

  

Page 22



3 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 
Ministerial foreword         Page 4 
 
A Note on Terminology         Page 6 

 
Introduction          Page 7 

 
The Local Toilets Strategy flowchart       Page 11 
 
Ways of working  differently        Page 12 
 
Dos and Don’ts          Page 13 
 
Prevention          Page 14 
 
Long-term thinking         Page 20 
 
Policy integration          Page 23 

 
Involvement          Page 31 
 
Collaboration          Page 38 

 
Publication and Dissemination        Page 45 
 
 
Annex A – Legal provisions        Page 48 
 
Annex B –National Toilet Logo        Page 51 
 
Annex C – Useful references        Page 52 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 23



4 
 

MINISTERIAL FOREWORD 
 
 
The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Services: 
 
The Welsh Government’s cross-cutting strategy, Prosperity for All: the national 
strategy1 was published on 19 September 2017. Prosperity is not just about material 
wealth, it is about everyone having a good quality of life and living in strong, safe 
communities. This can only be delivered if all parts of the government and public sector 
combine their forces and work together, with a focus on the areas where a difference 
can be made.  
 
Whilst the strategy establishes the government’s priorities it is far more than a list of 
actions. It represents a new way of working, one that recognises the challenges faced 
today, the Wales we want for the future and the steps that need to be taken to make it a 
reality. At the heart of the strategy is a recognition that public services and voluntary 
sector partners want to work together towards common objectives, to focus on the 
needs of people, at all stages of their lives and in all parts of Wales. 
 
To deliver Prosperity for All, the whole public service must therefore work more 
effectively and better direct their energy and resources. Local government is an 
important partner in delivering this agenda and every opportunity to remove barriers 
between different services and organisations must be taken. Achieving the ambitions 
for Wales will require a different relationship not just between the Welsh Government 
and local government, but also between organisations themselves. It is only through 
closer working, on a consistent regional basis, that the resilience and responsiveness of 
services can be maintained in the future. This is particularly important if we are to 
realise the full potential of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015 and focus 
public services. 
 
Provision of, and access to, toilets is an issue that affects public health. Accessible, 
clean toilets that are well located in places such as town centres, parks, promenades, 
cycle trails and walking routes can help encourage people to take exercise and stay 
more physically active. This has clear health and economic benefits. Conversely, toilets 
that are poorly designed, inadequately maintained and inappropriately located can 
create an atmosphere of neglect that discourages use. A lack of adequate toilet 
facilities can impact on a person’s physical and mental health, as well as affecting the 
wider environmental health of the population.  
 
Toilets for public use matter to everybody and remain a high-profile issue. They are, 
however, even more important to certain groups within society, including older people, 
people with disabilities, people with particular needs (including certain medical 
problems), women, children and young people and their families. These groups can be 
disproportionately affected by poor provision, for example, poor provision is understood 
to have particular negative impacts on older people, as some may be less likely to leave 
their homes without having confidence that adequate facilities will be available to them. 

                                                             
1 https://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf 
 

Page 24



5 
 

This can contribute to increased social isolation and inactivity, as well as affecting 
people’s ability to maintain independence and dignity in later life.  
 
To deliver a strategic approach to the provision of toilets across Wales, the Public 
Health (Wales) Act 2017 requires local authorities to publish a local toilets strategy for 
its area.  
 
Strategies will be built around the principles of co-production, with local authorities 
required to engage with a broad range of potential providers and users. Upon review of 
their strategies, local authorities are required to publish a statement of progress. A self 
policing approach will provide transparency to council members and the communities 
they represent, on the actions taken to progress the provision of toilets across Wales. 
 
This guidance aims to support local authorities to lay a solid foundation for the provision 
of toilet facilities for public use in Wales, one that is sustainable, both in the short term 
and for future generations. 
 
I would like to extend my thanks to everyone who assisted in the drafting of this 
guidance. 
 
 
 
  

Page 25



6 
 

A NOTE ON TERMINOLOGY 

In this guidance we use the following terms for different types of toilet facility: 

Toilet(s): we use this to mean a toilet facility that the general public can use that may 
be in public or private ownership, within a variety of premises and which does not 
require the user to be a customer or make a purchase.  
 
Traditional public toilet(s): by this we mean a purpose-built toilet facility in local 
authority ownership or control provided for use by the public. Some quotes in the text 
from legislation etc. use the term ‘public toilet’, and in these cases we have not included 
the word ‘traditional’. 
 
Gender neutral toilet(s): we use this expression in this document to mean a toilet that 
is not designated for exclusively male or female use, but can be used by anyone.  This 
type of toilet may previously have been termed ‘unisex’. 
 
Changing Place(s): these are fully accessible toilets with a height adjustable changing 
bench, a hoisting system, a peninsular toilet, and enough space for a person with a 
disability, his/her wheelchair and two carers.   
 
Standard accessible toilet(s): these are specially designed cubicles in separate-sex 
toilets or a self-contained gender neutral toilet. These may also be known as ‘disabled 
toilets’. 
  

Page 26



7 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 (‘the Act’) received Royal Assent on the 3 July 
2017. The Act brings together a range of practical actions for improving and protecting 
health. Part 8 of the Act introduces provision of toilets and specifically local toilets 
strategies.  
 
 
INTENDED EFFECT 
 
The aim of Part 8 is to ensure each local authority (LA) in Wales assesses the needs of 
its community in relation to toilets, and then takes a strategic and transparent approach 
to best meet that need. This process will enable a broader consideration of options 
available for providing toilets for use by the public, ranging from traditional stand-alone 
public toilets through to toilets in private ownership. This is intended to help address the 
current challenges regarding the provision of public toilet facilities within communities, 
which have often relied upon traditional stand-alone facilities that have been in decline 
in recent years due to LA financial pressures. 
 
The intended effect of Part 8 is not to prevent local authorities from taking decisions 
which they need to take during the course of their activities, which may include 
decisions to close a traditional public toilet or building when appropriate to do so. 
Instead, the intended effect is to improve the planning of provision so that any such 
decisions are taken within the overall context of meeting their communities’ identified 
needs.  A strategic approach will also help to mitigate any negative impacts of changes 
to provision.  
 
 
REQUIREMENTS 
 
To achieve this, the Act places a duty on each LA in Wales to prepare and publish a 
local toilets strategy for its area. The Act provides that a strategy must include an 
assessment of the community’s need for toilets, including changing facilities for babies 
and changing places facilities for people with disabilities. The strategy must also 
provide details of how the LA proposes to meet the identified need. There is no 
requirement for the strategies to be presented to the Welsh Government for approval, 
as the strategies should be subject to LAs’ existing scrutiny structures and public 
scrutiny.  
 
The duty to prepare a strategy does not in itself require LAs to provide and maintain 
public toilets themselves, but they are required to take a strategic view across their area 
on how these facilities can be provided and accessed by their local population. In doing 
so it is envisaged that LAs will consider a full range of options for making facilities 
available to the public.  By way of example, if a toilet is not available at a park but a LA 
identifies a need for one, then the LA should consider different ways of meeting that 
need. This could be by the LA directly providing the facility, or by the LA working with a 
private business within or near to the park to make their facilities freely available to the 
public.  
 

Page 27



8 
 

The Act’s provisions on local toilets strategies are ultimately intended to benefit all 
those living in and visiting Wales. Accordingly, the provisions seek to ensure that 
appropriate engagement with local communities takes place as part of the development 
of the strategies, and that the process takes place, as well as with visitors and 
commuters, in a manner which is both transparent and supports local accountability.  
 
LAs are therefore required to consult with a wide range of interested parties on their 
draft strategies and to publish their final strategies so that they are available to all.  In 
order to further support local accountability, the Act provides a clear framework to 
govern the timescales for the production of strategies. The Act requires, within six 
months of a strategy or strategy review, the preparation and publication of interim 
progress statements.  These statements will review the period of two years since the 
publication of the strategy or two years since the last review of the strategy, and will 
report on the steps the LA has taken since the strategy’s publication.  
 
In order to provide LAs with the flexibility to respond to changing circumstances, LAs 
are able to review the strategies at any time. The Act also provides for a mandatory 
review period, which is intended to align with the cycle for LA elections and local plans 
provided for in other legislation, in order to both reduce unnecessary bureaucracy and 
ensure a coherent approach to planning at local level. The importance of ongoing 
engagement with local communities is upheld within these provisions, through a 
requirement for any revised strategy to be published.  
 
In recognition of the importance of ensuring that the needs of different groups of people 
across their communities are considered through local toilet strategies, the Act explicitly 
provides that the term ‘toilets’ includes changing facilities for babies and changing 
places facilities for persons with disabilities.  
 
For clarity, the Act also repeals and restates existing LA powers to provide public 
toilets.  
 
 
PURPOSE OF GUIDANCE 
 
There are numerous considerations relevant to LAs in preparing, reviewing, consulting 
and publishing their strategies and so the Act requires Welsh Ministers to issue 
guidance on this matter.  
 
LAs are required to have regard to this guidance and to read it in conjunction with the 
Act. 
 
This guidance is not intended to replace other good practice guidance on the provision 
of toilet facilities. 
 
 
STATUS OF GUIDANCE 
 
This is statutory guidance issued under section 113(7) of the Act.  All LAs in Wales 
must have regard to the guidance pursuant to section 113(11).  
 

Page 28



9 
 

 
THE DUTY ON LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
 
This guidance should be read in conjunction with the Act. 
 
Part 8 of the Act deals with strategies and places the following duties on a LA:  
 
• to prepare and publish a strategy before the end of the period of one year beginning 

with 31 May 2018 (section 113(1)); 
 

• to include an assessment of need and steps to be taken to meet that need (section 
113(2)); 

 
• to review the strategy which includes a requirement to publish a statement of what 

steps have been taken following the last published strategy and to revise and 
publish any revisions considered necessary (section 113(3), (5) and (7)); 

 
• to publish interim progress statements (section 114); 
 
• to consult any person they consider to be interested in the provision of toilets in 

their area before publishing the strategy (section 115); and 
 
• to provide those persons with a draft copy of the strategy (section 115(2)). 

 

REVIEW AND REVISION OF THIS GUIDANCE 
 
The Welsh Government will keep this guidance under review and will revise and update 
it as necessary and appropriate.  
 

TIMETABLE 
 
The Act provides specific timescales that must be followed in relation to the preparation 
and review of LA strategies. The statutory timetable must be followed, even if an LA 
decides, for operational reasons, to voluntarily publish a review or update the strategy 
document between key reporting points in the statutory timetable.  
 
• The latest date for publication of the LA toilet strategy is 31 May 2019.  

 
• The LA must prepare an interim progress report setting out the steps taken in line 

with their strategy every two year period commencing from the date of the last 
published strategy. The interim progress report must be published within six 
months of the end date of the two year period. 

 
EXAMPLE:  If a LA published its first toilet strategy on the 4 February 2019 then it 
will need to undertake a review of the strategy covering the period 4 February 
2019 -  4 February 2021 (two year period from date of publication) and publish the 
interim progress statement before 4 August 2021 (six months from the last date of 
the period). 

Page 29



10 
 

 
• A LA must also review the local toilet strategy within a year of each ordinary 

election for its area. The next election date in Wales is Thursday 5 May 2022 so 
the latest date for review is 4 May 2023. If no changes are made to the strategy 
following the post election review then the LA must publish an interim progress 
statement covering a two year period commencing from the date of the last 
election.  

 
EXAMPLE: Following the 2022 election a LA completes review of the strategy on 
the 5 November 2022 and makes no changes to the strategy. The LA must 
prepare an interim progress report for the period of 22 November 2022 – 22 
November 2024 (two years period from the date of the last review) and publish the 
statement before 22 May 2025 (six months after end of period)  

 
• A LA may review its strategy at any time following which it must publish a 

statement of the steps which it has taken in accordance with the strategy. If 
following a review a LA decides to revise the strategy it must publish the revised 
strategy and then prepare an interim progress report covering the two year period 
commencing from the date of publication.  

 
 
 

  

Page 30



11 
 

THE LOCAL TOILETS STRATEGY PROCESS 
 

 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ASSESSMENT OF NEED 
LA carries out an assessment of the need for toilets in its area by mapping existing toilets available for 

public use, identifying gaps through engagement with communities and working with partners to identify 
solutions.  

INTERIM PROGRESS STATEMENT 
LA prepares and publishes an ‘interim progress statement’ setting out steps taken in accordance with its 
strategy 2 years from when the LA last published or 2 years from the date of the last post election 

review of its strategy. The Interim Progress Statement has to be published within 6 months 
following the end of the interim statement period. 

CONSULTATION 
LA consults any person it considers is likely to be interested in the provision of toilets in its area. As part of 

the consultation it makes available a draft of its new or revised local toilets strategy. 
Consultation should be a minimum of 12 weeks. 

PUBLICATION 
LA publishes its new or revised strategy setting out its assessment of need, the steps it proposes to take to 

meet that need and any other information it considers appropriate. 

REVIEW AND END OF PERIOD PROGRESS STATEMENT 
LA reviews its strategy and produces end of period progress statement within 

one year of every ordinary local government election  

Change to local toilets strategy needed? 

No 

LA prepares to produce local toilets strategy. 

Yes 

LA publishes progress statement of 
actions taken during the period 

Page 31



12 

WAYS OF WORKING DIFFERENTLY 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘WFG Act’) aims to improve 
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. It makes those 
public bodies, such as LAs, Local Health Boards, Public Health Wales NHS Trust 
and the Welsh Government think more about the long term, work better with people 
and communities and each other, look to prevent problems and take a more joined-
up approach.  It means these public bodies must do what they do in a sustainable 
way.  
 
Public bodies need to make sure that when making their decisions they take into 
account the impact they could have on people living their lives in Wales in the future. 
 
To make sure we are all working towards the same vision, the WFG Act puts in place 
seven well-being goals2. Together they provide a shared vision for the public bodies 
listed in the WFG Act to work towards. 
 
The WFG Act puts in place a ‘sustainable development principle’ which tells public 
bodies how to go about meeting their duty under that Act. The principle is made up 
of five ways of working that public bodies should follow when carrying out 
sustainable development. These are: 
 
• looking to the long term so we do not compromise the ability of future 

generations to meet their own needs; 
 

• taking an integrated approach; 
 
• working with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions;  
 
• involving a diversity of the population in the decisions affecting them; and 

 
• acting to prevent problems from occurring or getting worse. 

 
Following these five ways of working will help us work together better, avoid 
repeating past mistakes and tackle some of the long-term challenges we are facing. 
 
 
Local Authorities in Wales must apply the five ways of working when 
preparing, reviewing, consulting on and publishing their strategies. 
 
 

 

 

 

                                                             
2 A prosperous Wales, a resilient Wales, a healthier Wales, a more equal Wales, a Wales of cohesive 
communities, a Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language, a globally responsible Wales. 

Page 32



13 

 

DOS AND DON’TS 

 
LAs in Wales should undertake the development of their strategies by: 
 
• keeping in mind provision of appropriate toilet facilities to address the current 

and future needs of the whole of the population, looking out in particular for 
areas where the existing toilet provision might be at risk of being lost or 
reduced at some point in the future,  acting pre-emptively to prevent this 
occurring and actively looking for opportunities to increase provision; 

 
• taking every opportunity to talk to the public and representative groups about 

the challenges they face in accessing local toilet facilities, listening to their 
concerns and seeking their views and involvement in identifying, and delivering 
potential solutions;  

 
• working actively with internal and external delivery partners including public and 

private sector partners in order to benefit the delivery of desired outcomes; 
 
• pursuing long-term, enduring solutions to any gaps in toilet provision; and 

 
• seeking to manage toilet provision at the same time as achieving other, related 

outcomes; 
 

 
LAs in Wales should not undertake the development of their strategies by: 
 
• seeking only short-term solutions to gaps in toilet provision (other than for 

temporary events); 
 

• seeking to manage provision of toilet facilities separately from the pursuit of 
other, related outcomes such as better infrastructure planning, active travel 
routes, safer roads, healthier lifestyles and more resilient communities; 

 
• deciding what’s best, and informing the public only after it’s all been settled; 

 
• trying to do it all on their own; or 

 
• waiting for the loss or breakdown of provision before starting to do something 

about it. 
 
  

Page 33



14 

1. PREVENTION 
 
WFG: acting to prevent problems from occurring or getting worse 
 
Access to public toilets:  
 
• 80 % of respondents do not find it easy to find a public toilet 
• 78 % of respondents found that their local public toilets are not open when 

they need them 
 

Age UK – Nowhere To Go 20063 
 
1.1 Undertaking the full process for strategies set out in this guidance is intended 

as a prevention scheme to address the challenges facing LAs in providing 
traditional public toilets. A strategy needs to be more than a piece of paper.  It 
needs to set out the issues and identify creative solutions to improve the 
provision of toilets for public use.  Strategies need to be scrutinised, reviewed 
and updated to ensure they are making a difference.  

 
1.2 The key prevention aims of a local toilets strategy are to: 
 

• identify key toilet facilities in a location; 
• identify facilities at risk of being lost to a location, and ways to preserve their 

use; 
• identify alternative provisions if facilities must close; 
• identify additional facilities that can be brought into wider use to supplement 

existing facilities or as a replacement for those that have been lost; and 
• identify opportunities for creating new facilities to modern, inclusive 

specifications. 
 

 
 
 
RATIONALE FOR CHANGE 
 
1.3 The necessity for LA strategies has come about because the current system 

governing provision and access to toilets for has not met the public’s need.  
There are a number of factors that have contributed to this:  

 

                                                             
3 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-
professionals/research/nowhere%20to%20go%20public%20toilet%20provision%20(2007)_pro.pdf?dtrk=true 
 

Your long-term goal for strategies should be twofold – to achieve an 
increase in public access to toilets, both in specific hotspots and more 
widely outside of main centres of population, so as to achieve the greatest 
public health benefit across Wales. 
 

Page 34



15 

• the provision and maintenance of traditional public toilets in Wales is at the 
discretion of LAs with no national guidance or co-ordination, meaning 
provision in Wales varies considerably from one LA area to another4;  

 
• the provision and maintenance of traditional public toilets in Wales is a 

considerable cost to LAs and is not always sustainable, as a consequence, 
provision is declining and toilets are under threat of closure across Wales; 

  
• access to information at street level on  toilets available for public use is poor 

across Wales and opportunities to provide information online are not being 
maximised; 

 
• best use is not being made of toilets within private buildings (for example by 

way of public facilities grants) and public buildings, for example those in 
public libraries, community and town halls, sports centres and museums; 

 
• poor planning around opening hours and signposting is limiting access and 

use; 
 
• many traditional public toilets are old and often poorly designed, 

inadequately maintained and poorly located, which can create an 
atmosphere which attracts vandalism, criminal damage and anti-social 
behaviour; and 

 
• community toilet schemes have declined despite the funding from the former 

Public Facilities Grant Scheme having been transferred to LAs via the 
Revenue Support Grant.  

 
 
DRAFTING THE STRATEGY 
 

 
 
1.4 These three components should be included by a LA when publishing their 

strategy. The assessment of need, when completed, will form a key part of a LA 
strategy.  

 
1.5 The strategy should include the findings of the assessment of need activities 

that have taken place. This includes:  
 

• the considerations given to the requirements of the general population;  
                                                             
4 legal provisions are set out in Annex A of this guidance. 

When drafting the strategy, LAs are required to include (as set out in 
section 113 of the Act): 
o a completed assessment of need for toilets available for use by the public 

in their area; 
o a statement setting out the steps which the LA proposes to take to meet 

this need; and  
o any other information which the LA consider appropriate. 

Page 35



16 

• the needs identified for particular user groups; 
• the condition and  usage of existing facilities; 
• the considerations given to identifying facilities not currently in general public 

use; and  
• the identification of any gaps in current provision. 

 
 
PROPOSALS FOR EXISTING FACILITIES 
 
1.6 This includes those facilities in LA ownership, previously identified under 

community toilet schemes, and those facilities that have previously been 
subject to asset transfers.  LAs should explain the opportunities they have 
identified as part of the assessment of need process, to meet the demand for 
toilet provision within their area and should set out any need they have 
identified for the upgrading, refurbishment or closure of existing facilities.   

 
 
PROPOSALS FOR ADDITIONAL FACILITIES 
 
1.7 Where a gap in provision has been identified, LAs should explain the gap and 

set out proposals for addressing it. This could include, for example, the creation 
of facilities at new locations, additional facilities within high usage areas, or 
specialised facilities for particular user groups. LAs should also explain what 
future opportunities they may have identified to include provision for toilets for 
public use within planning proposals and leasing arrangements. 

 
1.8 Any proposals should be informed by the findings of the assessment process.  
 
1.9 A sum of £9,000 per LA was transferred to LAs by the Welsh Government into 

the Revenue Support Grant with the intention that they would continue to run 
community toilet schemes that were previously grant funded under the 
Community Facilities Scheme.   

 
1.10 To facilitate transparency for the public and elected members, it is considered 

good practice that funding allocated to any proposals should be clearly set out 
within the strategy. 

 
 
A NOTE ON TYPES OF FACILITY AVAILABLE IN AN AREA 
 
1.11 When seeking out and engaging participation from owners of different types of 

premises, LAs should endeavour to secure a mix of toilet types and 
accessibility within the same area wherever possible, to allow for the equality of 
access to toilets if all types cannot be provided in one premise.  It is 
acknowledged, however, that this may not always be possible, depending on 
what premises are in an area and fully accessible toilets and baby changing 
facilities particularly are not always readily available.  A toilet with limited 
access or facilities is better than no toilet at all if there is no other option.  The 
LA should then identify gaps in provision in their local toilet strategy that can be 

Page 36



17 

addressed over time.   Existing toilets should not be closed or taken out of 
existing toilet schemes because they cannot provide a full range of facilities.   

 
 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE EQUALITY ACT 2010 
 
1.12 The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies when providing services or 

facilities to make reasonable adjustments to allow a person with a disability to 
overcome any disadvantage of access.  In the case of access to toilets, this 
may involve providing an auxiliary aid (such as information on opening times or 
charges in large print or Braille), or making adjustments to the physical features 
of a building (for example by providing a ramp at the entrance to a building 
where steps exist, wider doorways and larger cubicles for access by wheelchair 
users).  The Equality Act requires service providers to do what is “reasonable” 
in all the circumstances, which could depend on a range of issues: 

• how practicable the changes are; 

• if the change would overcome the disadvantage people with disabilities 
experience; 

• the size of the organisation; 

• how much money and resources are available; 

• the cost of making the changes; and 

• if any changes have already been made. 

1.13 It may not be possible to make physical changes such as those outlined above 
to older buildings, in which case it would be unreasonable to close them to all 
the population because they could not be adapted.  In these circumstances, 
consideration could be given to providing an accessible alternative close by. 

 
1.14 If LAs are in any doubt about the application of the requirements of the Equality 

Act to any of their proposals, they should consult their own legal departments 
for advice. 

 
1.15 It should also be remembered that certain premises may effectively be off limits 

for some members of the community, for example, toilets in premises that have 
an age restriction would exclude children and young people.  

  
 
CONSULTATION 
 

 
 
 

LAs are required to undertake a consultation on their proposed strategy, 
with any person that it considers is likely to be interested in the provision of 
toilets available for public use in its area before it publishes its strategy -  
section 115(1)(a) of the Act. 

Page 37



18 

1.16 LAs must consult any person they consider likely to be interested in the 
provision of toilets in its area when it reviews its strategy.  

 
1.17 LAs must make available the draft strategy which it proposes to publish to each 

person it proposes to consult. 
 
1.18 LAs should refer to the Involvement section of this guidance for ways in which 

to consult on their proposed strategy. 
 
1.19 LAs are encouraged to issue their proposed strategies for a 12 week public 

consultation to allow sufficient time for information to be disseminated in the 
community and respondents to discuss and formulate their responses. 

 
 
SCRUTINY 
 
1.20 Before the strategy is considered finalised for publication and to ensure that it is 

adopted, LAs should arrange for the proposed strategy to be scrutinised and 
adopted according to their internal processes.  LAs should include in their 
strategies information for the public on how the strategy will be scrutinised in 
future and progress measured. 

 
 
INTERIM PROGRESS STATEMENTS 
 
1.21 A LA must publish an interim progress statement, which provides an update on 

the actions being taken since the publication of their strategy.  The interim 
progress statement must cover: 

 
• the time period that the progress statement is covering;  
• a reiteration of the action points in the strategy that is being reported upon; 
• an update on the progress which the LA has taken in addressing the actions 

identified in their strategy, to include actions completed; actions in progress 
and actions yet to be progressed;  

• an explanation of any outstanding or ongoing actions;  
• a review of the timescale within which the LA intends to meet any 

outstanding actions;  
• any issues identified that need in-depth consideration at the next formal 

review point;  
• a statement of the next date the strategy will be formally reviewed; and 
• any other information which the LA consider appropriate. 

 
1.22 The interim progress statement must cover a two year period beginning on the 

last published strategy date (“the statement period”), and must be published 
within six months from the last day of the two year period. 

 
1.23 A LA must also review the local toilet strategy within a year of each ordinary 

election for its area.  If no changes are made to the strategy following the post 
election review then the LA must prepare an interim progress statement 

Page 38



19 

covering a two year  period commencing from the date of the last election and 
publish this within six months of the end of the statement period.  

 
 
REVIEW PROCESS 
 
1.24 It is important that LAs provide a mechanism by which feedback from the public 

on the strategy and on toilet facilities can be encouraged, monitored and 
collated.  Complaints and compliments received can be utilised to monitor the 
effectiveness of the strategy and to inform the review process.    The feedback 
received should be summarised within the review document, and any 
commentary by the LA noted. 

 
1.25 When a LA reviews its strategy and considers that a change is needed it should 

revise and consult on proposed changes before publishing an updated version. 
The statutory review and updating process set out in the Act intends to ensure 
that strategies are regularly revisited to ensure they always meet the need of 
their local population, but it is not envisaged that they will be completely 
rewritten each time.  Page 11 sets out the process for LAs to develop and 
review their LA strategies.  

 
 
REVIEW PROCESS:  
 
Following publication of a strategy, the LA may review the content at any time, 
but it must review the content after each ordinary local government election.  
This review must be published no later than one year from the date of the 
election. 
 
INTERIM PROGRESS STATEMENTS: 
 
An LA must prepare an interim progress statement covering the two year 
period from the date of the last published strategy or from the date of the last 
post election review.  The progress statement must be published within six 
months of the end of the two year period under review. 
 
 

Page 39



20 

2. LONG-TERM THINKING 
 
WFG: looking to the long term so we do not compromise the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs 
 

 
 
 
2.1 In all aspects of long term planning, careful consideration should be given to 

Future Trends reporting5 and population projections6.  
 
 
STRATEGIC THINKING 
 
2.2 LAs need to take a strategic/longer-term view about: 

• funding the provision of toilets, including exploring the possibilities of 
advertising and sponsorship from private companies, charging for use and 
grant schemes to encourage appropriately located private businesses to 
make their toilets available for public use; 

 
• planning the provision of toilets, including securing provision of toilets 

through the planning process – particularly new developments; 
 
• working with adjoining LAs on the provision of toilets, looking at a wider 

geographical area including travel routes and sites of significance; 
 
• working with community and town councils and local communities around 

the maintenance and provision of traditional public toilets, including 
community asset transfers; and 

 
• the design and location of toilets, including considering existing provision 

within public buildings across Wales and how best these could be made 
more accessible to the public.  

 
WIDER BENEFITS 
 
2.3 The lack of toilets use in places where people may otherwise take exercise, 

such as parks and promenades, can contribute to physical inactivity. Physical 
activity is essential for the health of all members of society but particularly for 
older people as it can help to maintain independence.   

                                                             
5http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/future-trends 
6 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/Local-Authority  

Strategies drawn up to pursue compliance with Part 8 of the Act should look 
for permanent, long-term solutions wherever possible, not just for quick fixes 
resulting in provision for the short term. When prioritising measures, long-
term demand forecasting is just as important as understanding the current 
level of public usage. 

Page 40



21 

 
2.4 In addition, the absence of toilets can exclude people who need regular access 

to toilet facilities from economic activities, such as shopping, which they would 
otherwise be undertaking, preventing them from engaging in the local economy. 
This can increase social isolation and lead to loneliness (especially amongst 
older people or people with disabilities). Poor provision can also impact on 
tourism, the economy and use of public amenities.  

 
 
POPULATION NEED 
 
96% of respondents to a survey conducted by Crohn’s and Colitis UK stated 
that each local authority in Wales should have a duty to create and publish a 
local toilets strategy. Of these: 
• 40% said they supported this due to their need for urgent and frequent 

access to toilets; 
• 38% cited the significant health benefits and peace of mind that would come 

from better access to toilets; 
• 16% felt it was necessary due to the increasing incidence of local traditional 

public toilets being closed.7 
 
 
2.5 In Wales we have a higher percentage of older people than anywhere in the 

UK. Conditions such as incontinence, urgency and prostate problems tend to 
be more common as we get older which can lead to a need for more regular 
access to toilet facilities. Older people rely on toilets and many older people feel 
unable to take advantage of local amenities without having confidence that 
toilets are available. The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales has 
highlighted the need for access to toilets by older people, and the impact a lack 
of provision can have on their health8. 

 
2.6 There are over eleven million people with a limiting long term illness, 

impairment or disability in Great Britain9 and the prevalence of disability rises 
with age.  

 
2.7 Standard accessible toilets meet the needs of some people with disabilities but 

not all. The Changing Places Consortium10 campaigns on behalf of those 
people who cannot use standard accessible toilets. This includes people with 
profound or multiple disabilities and their carers, as well as many other people 
with disabilities and people with long term serious health conditions. They need 
Changing Places toilets which are publically accessible with enough space and 
appropriate equipment, including a height adjustable adult changing bench and 
a hoist.  Changing Places are currently not mandated in planning requirements, 

                                                             
7 http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s57528/PHB%2038%20Crohns%20and%20Colitis%20UK.pdf 
8 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/news/news/14-03-
31/Commissioner_strongly_welcomes_proposals_to_improve_access_to_public_toilets_in_Wales.aspx 
9 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disability-facts-and-figures/disability-facts-and-figures#fn:1 
10 http://www.changing-places.org/ 
 

Page 41



22 

but provision of these specialised facilities must not be overlooked, as the 
definition of a toilet in the Act includes ‘changing places for disabled persons’.  

 
2.8 Many of the units surveyed each year by the British Toilet Association fall well 

below the current Equality Act 2010 standards. Ostomy users, persons with 
restricted mobility issues and wheelchair users often struggle with incorrect 
fittings in accessible toilets and the lack of specified provision. 

 
2.9 Children, young people and families need access to suitable facilities, including 

baby changing facilities.  Traditionally, these may have been provided only in 
women’s toilets, which would present a problem for men who care for children.   

 
2.10 Gender is also an issue in terms of toilet provision; despite women making up 

more than half of the UK population, and with a higher proportion of older 
people being women, there is more provision for men, primarily because of the 
smaller space that urinals take up.  Historically, the ideal ratio of 1 male facility 
to 2 female facilities has not been delivered, which results in insufficient 
provision for women. In addition, during the consultation for the Welsh 
Government Action Plan to Advance Equality for Transgender People, 
consultees identified that the issue of toilet provision is of concern to the 
Transgender community.11 

 
2.11 The expansion of the night-time economy, and changes in working patterns, 

has led to a requirement for toilets to be available on a 24 hour basis every day.  
The needs of transport workers, delivery workers, emergency service 
representatives and others who work outdoors or travel from place to place or 
at irregular times are also often overlooked in the provision of toilets. 

 
2.12 Whilst certain groups may have specific needs, access to toilets is a cross 

cutting issue as all groups in society rely on adequate toilet provision to go 
about their daily lives.    

 
2.13 LAs must be careful to strike a balance between all the requirements of their 

communities, to ensure that by addressing the needs of one group, an 
unintended detrimental consequence is not created for other groups. 

 
 

                                                             
11 http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/160314-transgender-action-plan-en.pdf 

LAs should consider their populations need in detail in order to allow their 
local toilets strategies to best meet the need for accessible toilets in their 
area. 
 

Page 42



23 

3. POLICY INTEGRATION 
 
WFG: taking an integrated approach 
 

 
12 
 
3.1 Prosperity for All, the National Strategy13, sets out how the Welsh 

Government will deliver for Wales during the current Fifth Assembly term, and 
sets out long-term foundations for the future.  This strategy makes a number of 
key commitments, (including those relating to health and well-being), places 
those commitments in a long-term context, and sets out how they fit with the 
work of the wider Welsh public service to lay the foundations for achieving 
prosperity for all. It acknowledges that how we deliver is just as important as 
what we deliver, and in order to make a real difference to people’s lives, we 
need to do things differently and involve people in shaping the services they 
use every day.   

 
3.2 Decisions about toilet provision should form part of each LA’s strategic 

planning, taking into account varying needs at regional, district and local level. 
Development plans should ensure consideration is given to opportunities for 
the long-term provision of public facilities within proposed developments and 
the demand for toilets available for public use associated with them. They 
should also ensure consideration is given to the long-term benefits that toilet 
provision may have on people using and visiting proposed developments. 

 
3.3 City centres, transport hubs, recreation and tourist hot spots will often be 

priority areas for toilets.  Consideration should also be given to requirements for 
toilets in areas identified as Business Improvement Districts14. 

 
3.4 LAs must follow the requirements of the Welsh Language Measure 2011 and 

related regulations, their Welsh Language policies and their compliance 
notices, ensuring that the Welsh language is treated no less favourably than the 
English language when pursuing the engagement, communication, publicity 
and dissemination activities set out in this guidance.  If LAs are in any doubt as 
to whether any aspect of the Measure and Regulations apply to any proposed 
activity, they must seek advice from their legal department and consult the 
guidances issued by the Welsh Language Commissioner’s Office15.  

 
3.5 There are a range of Welsh Government policies that require strategies and 

plans at a local level. The challenge is to build on and add value to these rather 
                                                             
12 www.researchgate.net/publication/228916130_A_Code_of_Practice_for_Public_Toilets_in_Britain 
13 http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf 
14 http://gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/grants-and-funding/business-improvement-
districts/?lang=en 

15 http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/English/Organisations/Pages/InformationForOrganisations.aspx 

“Toilet provision needs to be mainstreamed into strategic urban policy, 
transportation policy and urban design considerations”. 
 
Dr Clara Greed, Code of Practice for Toilets, 2015 

Page 43



24 

than to undermine or duplicate them. In some cases, explicit cross references 
will be appropriate. The local toilets strategies should acknowledge this. 

 
3.6 Key policies are as follows: 

• Health and Equality Impact Assessments; 
• Local Wellbeing Plans; 
• Population  Needs Assessments; 
• Local Development Plans; 
• Local Transport Plans; 
• Active Travel routes and maps; and 
• Partnership for Growth. 

 
3.7 Health Impact Assessments (HIA) offer a systematic yet flexible means of 

taking health into account as part of decision-making and planning processes. 
When developing a strategy, LAs should use the HIA process as an integral 
part of the needs assessment process to promote broad consideration of how a 
range of factors associated with a proposed action or decision in relation to 
local toilet provision will impact on population health at a local level. The 
assessment will provide a view to maximising positive impacts and help to 
eliminate or mitigate negative effects. Further information, screening tools and 
resources on HIA are available on the Wales Health Impact Assessment 
Support Unit’s (WHIASU) website16.  

 
3.8 Updated guidance will also be available to reflect new regulations about the use 

of HIA by public bodies in Wales, which will be made under the Act. 
  

                                                             
16 http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522 
 

Page 44



25 

 
 

 
 
 
3.9 Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs) enable an organisation to consider the 

effects of its decisions, policies or services on different communities, individuals 
or groups, particularly in relation to those most vulnerable in society.  

 
3.10 EqIAs provide a systematic way of ensuring that legal obligations are met and 

are a practical means of examining new and existing policies and practices to 
determine what impact they may have on equality for those affected by the 
outcomes. 

 
 

Case Study 

In response to Welsh Government’s proposals that LAs should prepare local toilet 
strategies, the Isle of Anglesey County Council undertook a prospective Comprehensive 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA). The intention was to trial this by examining the specific 
circumstances found on Anglesey using the WHIASU Practical Guide (2012) 
(www.whiasu.wales.nhs.uk ).     
 

The HIA considered the views of various Public Health experts and stakeholders through 
both direct communication and a half-day rapid HIA participatory workshop (which 
engaged older people, parents with young children, tourists, the provider service and 
community representatives). This resulted in a number of negative and positive health 
effects being identified and various issues scoped-in for further assessment, including: 
 
• vulnerable Groups such as older people, individuals on low incomes, homeless 

people, people with certain medical conditions and tourists; 
• lifestyles impacts such as dehydration in individuals, (particularly amongst older 

people and drivers) who reduce fluid intake in order to avoid toilet stops; 
• social and community issues such as isolation and loneliness amongst older people 

including those with disabilities, who are reluctant to go out because of a lack of 
public toilets to meet their needs; 

• environmental issues such as street fouling, particularly along A55(T); 
• economic issues such as impacts on tourists and peripatetic workers; and 
• impacts on services such as reduction in amenities, alternative provision by private 

businesses and use of IT. 
 

These issues were refined by further discussions with three separate focus groups: postal 
workers, haulage and a coach/bus company (all of which employed a peripatetic 
workforce), as well as telephone interviews with organisations responsible for maintaining 
the A55(T) and another that works on behalf of homeless people.  The outcome of these 
assessments, when considered in terms of the community profile and literary evidence, 
resulted in a number of recommendations. 
 
The HIA identified that there may be unintended consequences when a LA closes public 
toilets. These can range from impacts on the tourism economy (e.g. retaining Seaside 
Awards) to the provision of services for the homeless. HIA enables a LA to ensure that 
decisions on public toilet closures are not taken in isolation and when closures are 
approved, suggests methods of mitigating or even negating the impacts. 

Page 45



26 

3.11 EqIAs involve:  
 

• anticipating or identifying the consequences of this work on individuals or 
groups of service users/employees;  

• making sure that any negative impact is eliminated or minimised, and  
• maximising opportunities for promoting positive impact.  

 
3.12 A Toolkit17 has been developed to help organisations consider the effects that 

decisions, policies or services have on people with a protected characteristic. 
Assessing impact across a broad range of characteristics (not just those 
required by law), helps organisations to embed equality and human rights and 
assist them in the delivery of their services.  It is therefore suggested that an 
assessment is made at the start of the assessment of need process. 

 
3.13 Local Well-being Plans (LWP): Each Public Services Board (PSB) must 

assess the state of economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in 
their areas. The assessment must consider the state of well-being of the people 
in the area as well as the communities which comprise the area.  

 
3.14 Welsh Government guidance18 on the preparation of an assessment of local well-

being and a LWP states:  
 

Relevant Welsh Government policy frameworks such as the revised Child 
Poverty Strategy19 and the Tackling Poverty Action Plan20 can help Boards 
assess the needs of children in poverty. Similarly, the Welsh Language 
Strategy21 may help boards assess the needs of Welsh-speakers and Welsh-
speaking communities, and wellbeing indicators for older people22 can assist 
the boards in identifying the needs of older people in the community.  

 
3.15 The assessment of the well-being of people in each area may be useful in 

preparing the assessment of need for the provision of toilets. The LA 
assessments of the community’s need for toilets could then itself prove useful 
in the preparation of future assessments of local well-being.  

3.16 PSBs are then required to prepare and publish a LWP, informed by their 
assessment of local well-being. The LWPs will set out how the PSB intends to 
work together to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-
being of its area by setting local objectives  which will maximise the contribution 
made by the board to achieving the well-being goals. 

 
3.17 Population Needs Assessments: Population Needs Assessments are 

required under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  LAs and 
Local Health Boards must jointly carry out an assessment of the population to 

                                                             
17 http://www.equalityhumanrights.wales.nhs.uk/equality-impact-assessment-toolkit 
18 http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-en.pdf 
19 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-poverty/?lang=en 
20 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/tackling-poverty/taking-forward-tackling-poverty-action-plan/?lang=en   
21 http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/122902wls201217en.pdf    
22 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/news/news/15-03-
19/Wellbeing_Indicators_for_Older_People.aspx#.VYgVr9JFDcs  – Published by the Older People’s 
Commissioner for Wales.  This is an advisory document that PSBs may find useful.    

Page 46



27 

find out the care and support needs in an area.  The assessments must also 
set out the range and level of services required to meet those needs23.  The 
information in these assessments may be useful in preparing the assessment 
of need for the provision of toilets. 

 
3.18 Local Development Plan (LDP): Informed by the Wales Spatial Plan24, every 

local planning authority in Wales must prepare a LDP for its area. The LDP is 
the development plan for each county or county borough council and each 
National Park, superseding the Unitary Development Plan or any other existing 
development plan. LDPs provide the proposals and policies to control 
development of the local area for the next 15 years.  Planning Policy Wales 
stresses the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  LDPs should 
be based on prudent use of resources, a clear understanding of the economic, 
social and environmental needs of the area and any constraints on meeting 
those needs. The process of developing the LDP may well provide insight, 
evidence and solutions that can be used by LAs in the development of their 
strategies. 

 
3.19 Place Plans: The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 enables Local Planning 

Authorities in Wales to work with communities to create Place Plans25. These 
are planning documents prepared and led by communities to assist residents to 
shape the finer detail on developments within their local area.  Place Plans will 
need to be in conformity with the LA’s Local Development Plan, and will 
become a non-statutory document to be adopted by the Council as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 
3.20 Local Transport Plan: The Transport Act 2000, as amended by the Transport 

(Wales) Act 2006, introduced a statutory requirement for local transport 
authorities to produce a Local Transport Plan every five years and to keep it 
under review. The most recent plans describe the key transport issues relevant 
to the LA and set out specific priorities for the LA to deliver in the five year 
period 2015 to 2020, and medium and longer term aspirations up to 2030.  The 
LA strategies should take the key transport issues identified and priorities for 
delivery into consideration.  

 
3.21 Information on current and future transport trends is regularly updated and 

provided by Welsh Government Statistics and Research, available at:  

http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/?topic=Transport&lang=en.  

3.22 LAs should also have regard to section 114 of the Highways Act 1980, which 
gives LAs the power to provide public conveniences for users of their roads in 
proper and convenient situations on or under land adjoining, or in the vicinity of, 
the highway or proposed highway26.  

 

                                                             
23 http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/act/population/?lang=en 
24 http://gov.wales/topics/planning/development-plans/wales-spatial-plan/?lang=en 
25 http://www.planningaidwales.org.uk/place-plans-from-concept-to-reality/ - sponsored by WG Planning 
26 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/66/section/114 

Page 47



28 

3.23 The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 (2013 Act): The 2013 Act is considered 
to be a world first - and makes it a legal requirement for LAs in Wales to map 
and plan for suitable routes for active travel, and to build and improve their 
infrastructure for walking and cycling every year. It creates new duties for 
highways authorities to consider the needs of walkers and cyclists and make 
better provision for them. It requires both the Welsh Government and LAs to 
promote walking and cycling as a mode of transport. Section 2(8) of the 2013 
Act defines a range of features as related facilities for the purposes of the Act, 
including public toilets.  Section 8 of the statutory Design Guidance provides 
more detail and includes guidance on toilets at 8.4.27 This guidance provides: 

 
‘The Act requires two maps to be produced, the existing routes map and the 
integrated network map. The existing routes maps will show the routes within 
the designated areas that are suitable and appropriate for making active travel 
journeys. These routes could be on road, shared, segregated, or traffic-free. 
They can be for walkers or cyclists, or both. They will also show crossing points 
and the facilities that exist to support active travel on these routes, including 
cycle shelters/parking/storage and public toilets. 

Any facilities shown on the existing routes map must be publicly available, but 
they do not necessarily have to be “free” to use (e.g. coin operated toilets). 
Facilities only available to selected groups, such as toilet facilities in a 
members-only gym, should not be included.’ 

3.24 The statutory guidance is available on the Welsh Government website28. 

3.25 The work already undertaken by LAs in relation to the 2013 Act will be valuable 
in supporting the development of the LA strategies.  

 
3.26 Partnership for Growth is the Welsh Government strategy for tourism up to 

2020.  One of the key focuses of this document is ‘place building’ as it 
recognises that successful tourism destinations are those that provide a high 
quality environment for the visitor.  It also recognises that facilities provided for 
visitors can also be used by the communities in which they are located and can 
help to generate local income and jobs. Partnership for Growth states: 

 
‘It will be important to improve the visitor appeal of tourism destinations 
throughout Wales. Destination Management is a simple concept which involves 
a partnership approach to managing places. Tourism infrastructure such as 
way-marking, signposting, car parking, beach management, toilets, tourist 
information and litter collection are often only noticed when they are sub-
standard but they can often be the difference between a satisfied and an 
alienated visitor.’ 

 
3.27 LAs may wish to note that information on tourist experience (day visitors, UK 

visitors and overseas visitors) is regularly updated and provided by Welsh 
Government Statistics and Research.29 

                                                             
27https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-design-guidance 
28 https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-statutory-guidance-local-authorities 
29 available at: http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/?topic=Tourism&lang=en  

Page 48



29 

 
3.28 An extract from the Welsh Government Day Visitors Survey 2016 demonstrates 

how important the availability of public toilets is to this area: 
 

‘While Wales scores very highly overall among day visitors as a place to visit, 
the study does highlight some areas where the experience could be enhanced 
and differences in opinion across visitors to different areas of the country. The 
quality and availability of public transport, the cleanliness and availability of 
public toilets, shopping and Wales’ accessibility for people with a disability all 
scored lower than 8 in 10, suggesting there is room for improvement on all 
these dimensions. ‘ 

 
3.29 Destination Management Plans30 can be used by LAs to look strategically at 

how they attract visitors to destinations and ensure they enjoy their visit.  Not all 
LAs have Destination Management Plans at present, but LAs preparing their 
local toilet strategy should make contact with their local tourism team to 
discuss.  

 
3.30 Guidance on a collaborative approach to destination management is in 

preparation and can be accessed on the Business Wales website31.  
 
3.31 Tourism Amenity Investment Support is funding targeting amenity projects in 

the tourism sector in Wales.  Funding is available to public, third sector and not 
for profit organisations32 with the aims of developing quality sustainable 
tourism facilities; adding value to visitor experience and delivering quality, 
innovation and a sense of place. 

 
 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                             
 
30 https://businesswales.gov.wales/dmwales/ 
31 https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/working-together 
32  https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/finance#guides-tabs--4 

Page 49



30 

 

Case Study: Tourism Amenity Investment Support 

Vale of Glamorgan Council – refurbishment of car park and toilets at 
Dunraven Bay 

 
The Vale of Glamorgan Council’s Destination Plan objectives for Dunraven Bay 
include developing a prosperous visitor economy. With the main beach car park 
and the car park to the Heritage Coast Centre in a poor state of repair, the local 
authority proposed a range of works to upgrade the basic infrastructure of the 
area to help improve the visitor appeal.  
    
The works include resurfacing the car parks for the main beach and at the side of 
the Heritage centre and the resurfacing of the public forecourt to the front of the 
Heritage Coast Centre, and refurbishment works to the external toilet block and 
shower/wet room. 
  
The works will ensure that parking space is maximised with adequate areas for 
disabled access/ parking; improved traffic flow and safe pedestrian walkways, and 
improved access and a direct route onto the Wales Coastal Path. 
  
The refurbishment of the external toilet block at the Heritage Coast Centre; will 
include the fitting of energy efficient hand dryers and energy efficient light 
systems.  The works to the shower/wet room will ensure that it complies with 
disability access regulations and that it is fit for use by all. 
 
This new wet changing area will enable community groups and third party 
commercial organisations the opportunity to develop their product offer and help 
develop the site as a focal point for outdoor water based activities.  
 
 

Page 50



31 

4.	 INVOLVEMENT	

 
WFG: involving a diversity of the population in the decisions affecting them 
 
4.1 The local population and key stakeholders are more likely to feel their needs 

have been considered sufficiently if they have been part of the process, 
increasing their value of ownership of the strategy. This is particularly important 
when LAs consider the assessment of need.    

 
 
MANAGING EXPECTATIONS 
 
4.2 LAs will need to manage messaging about what they are setting out to achieve 

from the start of the process.  LAs will need to emphasise that this is the start of 
a long term process, and will need to be clear about what they can and cannot 
do in respect of directly providing toilets.  It should be emphasised that the 
primary purpose of the strategy is to improve everyone‘s access to toilets in 
their day to day lives through better use of existing resources.  

 
4.3 It should be emphasised that not all existing toilet facilities need to remain, 

especially if there are better alternatives and not all potential facilities within 
buildings can be made accessible to the public. Using existing resources will 
also mean that not every toilet brought into public use is likely to be fully 
accessible to everyone due to building limitations and what is proportionate to 
change to make the toilet fully accessible but a much wider range of available 
toilets will benefit all. 

 
Local communities should be involved from the outset in the development of 
strategies. LAs should not wait until the strategies exist in draft form before 
seeking their input.  
 
4.4 LAs should produce their strategies by engaging with: 
 

• key delivery partners such as Town and Community Councils;  
 
• third sector and community volunteer councils and fora, social enterprises 

and housing associations;   
 
• local businesses and private landowners; 
 
• individuals who are dependent on the provision of toilet facilities for public 

use, including children and their parents, older people, people with 
disabilities, carers and care workers, rough sleepers, outdoor and travelling 
workers and those who commute to the area; 

 
• representative groups, including for example, the British Toilet Association, 

Age Cymru, Crohn’s and Colitis UK, Alzheimer’s Society and Disability 
Wales amongst others; 

Page 51



32 

 
• the Children’s Commissioner and Older People’s Commissioner for Wales; 
 
• public sector partners, including the police and ambulance service; NHS 

providers and bodies such as Community Health Councils, patient groups 
and Social Care providers;  

 
• the National Trust and National Parks Authorities;  
 
• Visit Wales and local tourism bodies; and 

 
• local Trade Unions. 

 
 
ASSESSMENT OF NEED – ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS 
 
4.5 A key part of the development of a LA strategy is the ‘assessment of need’ that 

each LA must make. This involves undertaking a review of the existing 
provision, identifying gaps and finding opportunities to increase the toilet 
provision within their local area.  

 
4.6 LAs should not undertake this assessment of need in isolation. Early 

involvement of the local community and key stakeholders (as identified above) 
in this assessment is pivotal to the ultimate success of each strategy. This is 
particularly true where LAs are seeking to involve business owners in opening 
up their toilet facilities for wider public use. 

 
4.7 LAs should engage with their communities to ensure the assessment of need 

accurately reflects the behaviours and requirements of the local and visiting 
population. This should be achieved via a range of approaches and a number 
of possibilities are set out below: 

 
• Steering/ Focus groups; 
• Feedback received from the public; 
• Workshops; 
• Events; 
• Exhibitions; 
• Public meetings; 
• Social media; 
• Online content and e-mails; 
• Newsletters; 
• Local newspapers; and 
• Surveys and questionnaires. 

 
4.8 The above examples are not an exhaustive list: LAs should use the method(s) 

of engagement which will best obtain the views of their population, and bear in 
mind that different groups may need different methods, e.g. online surveys may 
not be accessible to all population groups, and different times of day and 
locations may yield different results.  LAs should, however, make every effort to 

Page 52



33 

engage with those within their population who are more likely to rely on access 
to toilets, such as rough sleepers, people living with long-term health 
conditions, those attending local support groups (such as people with 
disabilities or those people with specific medical conditions), older people, 
parents and carers for young children and carers for people with additional 
needs.  Third sector groups can be particularly helpful in this regard. 

 
4.9 LAs should also consider engaging social groups and clubs who may require 

access to toilets.  
 

ASSESSMENT OF NEED – WHAT TO CONSIDER 
 

 
 
4.10 When producing the assessment of need, LAs should consider a range of 

factors, including: 
 

• an assessment of the local population, including age, gender  and additional 
health  needs; 

• an assessment of the gender balance of the current provision; 
• an assessment of locations, including popular destinations and distance 

between facilities; 
• an assessment of availability and accessibility, opening hours, usage 

charges, access for people with disabilities, Changing Places and baby 
changing facilities; 

• an assessment of the condition of existing facilities; 
• consideration of seasonal variations, including local events and seasonal 

population growth; 
• consideration of social factors such as, whether facilities are a target for 

abuse and anti-social behaviours or perceived to be in a dangerous location; 
• consideration of future requirements, including local development plans; 
• consideration of statistics in relation to population statistics33; deprivation 

measures34 and projections for demographics35 such as older people, 
children, benefit claimants36 etc. 

• analysis of current usage, including popular times, population assessment, 
transient visitors, such as van and lorry drivers, or those on coaches and 
buses, 

                                                             
33 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population 
34 http://wimd.wales.gov.uk/ 
35 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections 
36 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation/WIMD-Indicator-

Analysis 
 

Section 113(8)(a) of the Act requires that this guidance makes provision 
about the assessment of need for toilets available for use in the vicinity of 
sites and in connection with events that are of particular significance or of 
cultural, sporting, historic, popular or national interest. 
 

Page 53



34 

• analysis of the reasoning behind usage or lack of use, including 
consideration of any feedback received; 

• analysis of running costs of facilities; including management and 
maintenance;  

• analysis of limitations, including opening hours and cost; and 
• regional/national infrastructure and trunk roads, working with other LA’s to 

ensure suitable toilet provision along these routes. 
 
4.11 The above examples are not an exhaustive list: LAs should consider any 

additional factors they feel relevant to their assessment of their community’s 
needs. LAs should also take into account plans and strategies they have 
already produced, such as Ageing Well Plans. 

 
4.12 Additionally, LAs should consider any relevant legislation and standards such 

as the Equality Act 201037 and the BSI business standards BS 6465 (BS 6465-
4:2010 Sanitary installations. Code of practice for the provision of public toilets) 
which provides recommendations and guidance intended for those responsible 
for the surveying, assessing, planning, commissioning, designing, managing 
and use of public toilets38 and BS 8300 Standard for the provision of accessible 
toilets. 

 
 
CRITERIA FOR DETERMINING TRANSPORT ROUTES AND SITES OF 
PARTICULAR SIGNIFICANCE 
 

 
 
4.13 These could be places that a lot of people use, visit or pass through on a 

regular basis, for special events or on a seasonal basis.  It may also cover the 
whole range of places from internationally recognised tourist destinations 
through to small places of importance within their localities.  The following 
places are suggested examples of routes and sites of significance, but this is 
not an exhaustive list: 

 
• Bus, rail stations, active travel routes, airports and other termini; 
• Coach stops, car and bike parks and other stopping places on cross-country 

routes; 
• Shopping destinations, both urban and rural; 
• Significant buildings and other structures, for example, those  of historical 

significance; 
• Towns or landscapes; 

                                                             
37 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents 
38 http://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030177389 

‘Particular significance’ is defined for this guidance as follows: significant 
transport routes such as trunk roads and motorways and other places that 
have high levels of footfall such as cultural and sporting events, as well as 
sites of a historic or national importance. 

 

Page 54



35 

• National Parks, Country Parks, National Trust properties; gardens and other 
open spaces; 

• Places of cultural significance – such as Eisteddfodau, agricultural show-
grounds, museums and places associated with historical and cultural figures; 

• Music, art and other annual festivals and sporting events; 
• Sports stadia and grounds, locations associated with outdoor and indoor 

sports; 
• Theme parks, animal parks and other recreational destinations; 
• Beaches, coastal towns and areas such as coastal paths. 

 
4.14 If a LA strategy proposes the provision of toilets sited on or under land 

adjoining, or in the vicinity of, a highway or proposed highway (including 
bridges and tunnels), the relevant highway authority must consent to the 
provision of the toilets. If the LA is also the relevant highway authority no 
consent is required.  

 
4.15 LAs are best placed to judge what routes and areas are considered significant 

within their own areas both on a permanent and seasonal basis and during 
short term events.  The Local Authority Events Safety Advisory Group of each 
LA can also make recommendations to event organisers on the provision of 
toilets. 

 
4.16 When determining the need, location and numbers for toilets that may be 

required at the different types of sites listed previously, the following criteria 
should be taken into consideration:   

 
The location of the destination 

  
• Is it in an urban or rural setting? 
• Are there existing toilet facilities at the location? 
• Are they adequate to meet anticipated demand? 
• Are visitors likely to have travelled long distances (therefore needing toilet 

facilities on arrival)? 
 

 
The type of venue/destination 

 
• Are there existing toilet facilities at the destination? 
• Are they adequate to meet anticipated demand? 
• Are additional facilities required for particular events? 
• Where are toilets sited at the destination in relation to parking and the venue 

itself? 
• Are toilets needed in more than one place at the destination if it is a large 

site and visitors will be moving around? 
 
 

The duration of the event/demand at the location 
 

• Is it a one-off event, or is there constant demand? 

Page 55



36 

• How many people visit the destination on average per day in the season/off 
season (if different)? 

• What are the times people are likely to visit?  Does demand change over 24 
hours or over the course of the week – or both? 

 
 

The demographic of the visitors 
 

• Are visitors generally of mixed population (i.e. a mix of gender, age, etc.)? 
• Are particular demographics likely to be attracted to the destination (e.g. 

people with babies/small children; older children; older people, people with 
disabilities)? 

 
 

The types of toilet facilities that will be required 
 

• Permanent or temporary? 
• Appropriate ratio of male/female (1 male: 2 female is recommended) or 

gender neutral toilets? 
• Baby changing facilities (needed in both male and female toilets if gender 

neutral toilets not provided)?  
• Accessible for use by people with disabilities? 
• Changing Places facilities required? 

 
 

Whether food and/or drink is provided at the location 
 

• What is the anticipated consumption of food and/or drink based on 
anticipated peak numbers? 

 
 

Access to services 
 

• Can the sewage and water systems cope with peak times of usage? 
• What level of servicing/cleaning of toilet facilities is required based on 

anticipated usage? 
• Distance of parking places from toilets? 

 
 

Whether visitors are able to stay for extended periods 
 

• Will visitors stay for extended periods (i.e. more than a few hours)? 
• Will visitors be able to camp or park caravans and stay overnight? 

 
 
4.17 One-off events may need different requirements to those usually provided in 

particular destinations, according to all of the criteria above. 
 
4.18 ‘Events’ should also be interpreted as ‘destinations’. 

Page 56



37 

 

DETERMINING NUMBERS OF TOILETS REQUIRED 

4.19  Tables of ratios for providing toilet facilities in a range of settings can be found 
in guidances such as the Purple Guide to Health, Safety and Welfare at Music 
and Other Events39 and BS6465: Parts 1-4 Codes of Practice for Sanitary 
Installations. 

 
4.20 BS6465- Part 4:2010 – the Code of Practice for the Installation of Public Toilets 

is intended to guide LAs in respect of the provision of traditional public toilets.  
However, the document contains valuable information in making assessments 
of need of the population for toilet provision, assessing where toilets should be 
located, and sets out how a toilets strategy should be prepared.  The document 
also contains useful technical information that can be applied in relation to 
assessing footfall, mileage and numbers of toilets to be provided, and 
information on the design and technical specification of facilities of all types. 

 
4.21 There are no specific ratios in respect of the number of toilets that should be 

provided for people with disabilities.  The British Standards document BS6465-
4:2010 “Code of Practice for the Installation of Public Toilets”40 suggests that 
around 18% of the population have disabilities.  This document also suggests 
that for new toilets: 

 
• If only one toilet is provided, it should be a gender neutral enlarged 

accessible cubicle; 
• In toilet blocks, at least one gender neutral enlarged accessible cubicle 

should be provided and in addition to this, at least one enlarged toilet cubicle 
should be provided within separate-sex provision;  

• Where there are four or more cubicles in separate-sex toilet provision, at 
least one enlarged cubicle should be provided; and 

• In areas with heavy use, an additional Changing Place should be provided. 
 

4.22 It should be noted that enlarged cubicles intended for use by people with 
disabilities can be preferred by people without disabilities for a number of 
reasons, the increased space allowing adults to assist children or to allow ease 
of movement not available in the standard cubicles. The increased privacy can 
also be required by members of the Transgender community.  Consideration 
should therefore be given to providing additional enlarged cubicles if 
practicable. 

 
4.23 The Changing Places Consortium provides guidance on where Changing 

Places should be situated and the facilities required.41 
  

                                                             
39 https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/ 
40 https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030177389 
41 http://www.changing-places.org//install_a_toilet.aspx 
 

Page 57



38 

5. COLLABORATION 

 
WFG: working with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable 
solutions 
 
5.1 For strategies to be effective, LAs must undertake their planning collaboratively 

with both internal and external partners. If all departments within LAs do not 
take part-ownership of the strategy process, it is less likely to be successful.  

 
5.2 LAs should work with Community and Town Councils, other LAs, public bodies, 

third sector organisations commercial and private entities, when making the 
assessment of need, to identify toilet facilities that could be brought into general 
public use.  

 
5.3 The collaborative involvement of others is also applicable when considering 

toilet provision along routes that cross boundaries such as coastal paths, 
walking trails, active travel routes and large areas of countryside that attract 
visitors.  

 
 
REGIONAL WORKING 
 
5.4 Whilst each LA is required to develop and adopt its own strategy, it may be 

desirable in some circumstances for LAs to work together on a regional rather 
than an individual LA basis wherever it makes sense to do so. Regional 
working should enable a greater focus on preventing declining provision and 
improving standards of toilets, and help bring about better outcomes for people 
and communities in both the short and the long term. It offers practical benefits 
in terms of economies of scale, removing duplication, reducing complexity, 
simplifying activity, ensuring consistency, and building workforce resilience in a 
policy area which is often too dependent for delivery on small numbers of staff. 
It should also help to identify, at an early stage, situations where provision in a 
LA may be adversely affected by land use or transport decisions made in a 
neighbouring LA, and to pursue cross-border solutions to shared problems, 
including sustainability. 

 
5.5 It may be desirable in some circumstances for LAs to work with a National Park 

Authority where there is a common interest in toilet provision related to 
particular attractions or infrastructure within their area or that cross from one LA 
area to another (for example, active travel routes). However, it should be noted 
that the requirements of the Act only apply to Wales, and do not extend to 
England. 

 
 
WORKING WTH COMMUNITY AND TOWN COUNCILS 
 
5.6 Community and town councils should be considered as key delivery partners as 

they are uniquely placed to help build resilience and renewal in areas through 
understanding communities’ strengths and assets, and actively engaging local 

Page 58



39 

people and local business to help identify and meet local ambitions and needs. 
They may already be managing toilets on behalf of LAs, or have undertaken 
asset transfers.  LAs should work with community and town councils to utilise 
their knowledge of their communities’ needs, as well as in respect of the 
consideration of community-based assets such as public conveniences.  

 
5.7 Where funding has been applied for in relation to the refurbishment of 

community buildings, such as under the Lottery or other grants, LAs should 
consider at the planning stage whether it is appropriate to make provision for 
toilets within a new planning application.  Additionally, community groups and 
others when applying for such funding should be encouraged to consider 
including accessible toilets for public use within their proposals. 

 
5.8 Community asset transfers of existing buildings (either purpose built traditional 

public toilets or other buildings that have toilets that can be brought into wider 
use) may be an appropriate mechanism for some communities, and this should 
be considered carefully with any community council, community group or third 
sector organisation that expresses an interest.  The Welsh Government 
provides guidance on its website on how transfers may be achieved, which 
includes the document ‘Community Asset Transfers in Wales – A Best Practice 
Guide’.42   

 
5.9 When considering transfers of this type, however, future proofing must be built 

into arrangements to ensure that the new owners cannot close the toilets, 
change the use of the building or otherwise terminate the agreed access to 
toilets.  This is particularly important if the asset in question is a purpose-built 
traditional public toilet block.  

  

                                                             
42 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-transfer/?lang=en 
 

Page 59



40 

 
 

 
 
 
 
WORKING WITH OTHER LA DEPARTMENTS PUBLIC AND THIRD SECTOR 
BODIES  
 
5.10 LAs should include toilets which are within publicly owned, occupied, or funded 

premises; for example this may include museums, historic sights, leisure 
centres, transport stations, national parks and low level security government 
buildings. LAs should also consider making links with hospitals, health centres 
and GP surgeries.  LAs should first consider the buildings they own and occupy 
themselves or lease out to others as to whether there are toilets that can be 
brought into wider public use, for example in council offices (particularly those 
the public visit for council transactions),  leisure centres, libraries and other 

 
Case Study - Village Toilets Llansannan, North Wales 

 
In 2009 the community council in the village of Llansannan held a community 
wide appraisal to understand the needs, wants and aspirations of residents. It 
transpired that the issue many people were concerned about was the threatened 
closure of the village’s public toilets.  
 
To try to stop this action, the village began negotiations with Conwy County 
Borough Council to take over the ownership of the toilet facilities. However, there 
were a number of overheads that the community council would need to take on 
– chiefly raising the funds to pay the annual rates (£1800). So the village 
decided to register as a limited company with charitable status, ‘Menter Bro 
Aled’, which would make them eligible for grants and for discounts on the rates. 
They successfully applied for a 100% rate rebate and negotiated £4000 from the 
local authority towards restoring the toilet facilities to a working standard, a sign 
of Conwy Council’s support for this local initiative.  
 
Village activists who were involved in the building trade provided many of the 
necessary skills for the restoration of the building, and work was carried out on a 
voluntary basis. Cleaning of the toilets is also voluntary by the landlady of the 
local pub.  
 
The toilets have been in local ownership for a year now and there has been no 
anti-social behaviour, despite concerns about graffiti.  The toilets are used 
extensively especially by delivery and service drivers, as well as walkers and 
other tourists passing through. Word has spread of the toilets to other areas and 
it has become a ‘toilet to be seen’. It is considered an important element in 
attracting visitors to the village shops and services.  
 
In light of this experience of taking over the toilets, Menter Bro Aled are now 
looking at other community-based initiatives.  

Page 60



41 

such premises.  Where councils own buildings but intend to lease them out, 
consideration should be given to including access to toilets by the public as a 
condition of the lease wherever appropriate. 

 
EXAMPLE: the LA owns a disused gate house building in a park.  It is planned 
to refurbish and lease it as a café.  A clause is added to the lease that the 
lessees must allow members of the public other than customers to use the 
toilets inside the café without restriction when the café is open.  This 
arrangement returns toilet facilities to the park, and allows for the toilets to be 
effectively ‘supervised’ during opening hours.   

 
 

 
 
5.11 Where publicly accessible premises are owned by persons other than LAs (for 

example government offices, commercial complexes, universities and colleges, 
premises run by third sector organisations), LAs are required to consult with, 
and gain the consent of, the owners/occupiers of the relevant premises before it 
can include toilets in those buildings within their strategy. 

 
5.12 It should also be borne in mind that third sector organisations, although willing 

to help, may be reliant on voluntary workers or have other limitations on what 
they can provide.  LAs are encouraged to work with the owners of these 
premises to seek their agreement to making their toilet facilities available to the 
wider public.  

 
 
COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFERS 
 
5.13 We know that traditional services such as public buses, toilets, libraries and 

community/ day centres are being increasingly challenged due to the 
reductions in frontline services budgets. However, good practice already exists 
across Wales, where new approaches such as community asset transfer, 
empowering town/community councils and social enterprises to take on 
responsibilities for managing buildings/facilities are being embraced.  

 

Case Study: Refashioning toilet blocks in Pembrokeshire 
 
In Pembrokeshire the council identified a number of facilities where a reduced 
provision would provide adequate facilities and not have a detrimental impact on 
members of the public.  In these instances certain toilet blocks were ‘down-
sized’ by closing the separate ladies and gents and retaining a single, gender 
neutral facility with disabled access.  The cost of running these facilities was 
passed to community councils with an initial parachute payment.  The space 
created by downsizing has been offered to the community councils for them to 
generate an income, such as through renting as a store.  This has happened at 
a number of locations and contributes to the running costs for the remaining 
gender neutral toilet.  This model ensures a sustainable service and generates 
more local involvement and responsibility. 
 

Page 61



42 

5.14 Welsh Government guidance43 has been produced to support a step-change in 
enabling communities to play a more active role in service design and delivery. 
It helps organisations to be better equipped to undertake community asset 
transfers and so develop a thriving and sustainable long-term use for property 
assets and services in communities across Wales.  However, such transfers 
must be considered carefully to ensure that any proposal is sustainable in the 
long term. 

 
5.15 It is crucial that good practice is shared and that smart, innovative and cost-

effective models are adopted. A range of good practice, including in relation to 
public toilets, can be found on the good practice website44. 

 
 
WORKING WITH THE PRIVATE SECTOR 
 
5.16 LAs should consider extending community toilet schemes where they are still 

running, or reviving such schemes where they have been discontinued.  
Guidance on management of a community toilet scheme can be found in a later 
section of this guidance under the heading ‘Good Practice and Guidance’.  

 
5.17 LAs should consider the limitations placed on the use of toilets in the private 

sector, which could include restricted access as a result of limitations of the 
building structure and the business opening hours.   

 
5.18 LAs in Wales have the freedom to utilise monies set aside in the Revenue 

Support Grant, following the transfer of the Public Facilities Grant Scheme 
funding.  Many privately owned premises and businesses may be amenable to 
allowing wider public use of their toilet facilities and this should be investigated 
by the LA.  LAs can be assured that to name and publicise the opening times of 
the premises identified (and therefore the toilets therein) as part of the scheme 
as a whole is good practice.  This has the sole purpose of informing the public 
of facilities available to them, and therefore should not be interpreted as 
“advertising” or “showing favouritism”.  Businesses cannot expect, however, 
that LAs will promote their facilities in any other context or ahead of non-
commercial premises as a “reward” for participating in the scheme or as a 
condition of securing their participation. 

 

Community Toilets Schemes – Good Practice Guidance 

5.19 In England, the Department of Communities and Local Government published 
its strategic guide, Improving Public Access to Better Quality Toilets45, on 6 
March 2008. Amongst other things, the guide highlighted some innovative 
approaches taken by local authorities to public toilet provision, although it did 

                                                             
43 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-transfer/best-
practice-guide/?lang=en 
44 http://www.goodpractice.wales/home 
45http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919231747/http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/loca
lgovernment/guidancetoiletschemes 
 

Page 62



43 

not prescribe what approaches they should take. Local authorities are best 
placed to determine the mix of approaches most suitable to their area, and this 
guidance is intended to support them in making that decision. 

5.20 This guidance is primarily intended for local authorities and partnerships 
wishing to explore the feasibility of setting up a Community Toilet Scheme. It 
provides an overview of the Community Toilet Scheme developed by the 
London Borough of Richmond-upon-Thames, as well as a step-by-step guide 
on how to set up a similar scheme. 

5.21 The toolkit includes a case study of the SatLav text messaging service 
operated by Westminster City Council, which makes use of mobile phone 
technology to help the public locate their closest accessible toilets.   

5.22 LAs are recommended to consider this guidance when seeking delivery 
partners in local businesses and other organisations, as it contains practical 
information on establishing and maintaining a successful Community Toilet 
Scheme.   

5.23 Any discussions with potential delivery partners must cover all aspects of the 
management of toilets, including dealing with anti-social behaviour, and the 
health and safety aspects of management of waste from drug use or sexual 
behaviour.  A problem reduction guide is available from the British Toilets 
Association on dealing with these types of issues46. Any agreements should 
include consideration of future maintenance. 

5.24. It is good practice (though not a requirement under the wider proposals in this 
document) for LAs to inspect the facilities of any potential community toilet 
scheme delivery partners, and to undertake spot checks on those that have 
signed up. The latter is particularly important if a payment has been made for 
participation, to ensure that they are continuing to allow access to the facilities 
they have agreed to provide. 

 
ALL PREMISES TYPES 
 
5.25 There are no specific types of premises exempt from consideration on the face 

of the Act. However, local circumstances and sensitivities presented by 
particular premises may necessitate exceptions from inclusion in the strategy. 
Participating owners of buildings should not be expected to allow access to 
toilets on their premises outside their usual opening hours unless a specific 
agreement is made. 

 
 
 

                                                             
46 http://www.btaloos.co.uk/?page_id=307 

Page 63



44 

 
 
 
RADAR NATIONAL KEY SCHEME 
 
5.26 The Royal Association for Disability and Rehabilitation (RADAR) operates a 

National Key Scheme47 whereby toilets designed for people with disabilities can 
be locked to prevent damage and misuse and keys provided to people with 
disabilities to allow them access to the facilities.  The scheme is operated on a 
UK national basis, and toilet owners are asked to join the National Key Scheme 
to provide the standard locks and the keys for users. 

 
5.27 A range of LAs, other public and third sector organisations and commercial 

companies are members of the scheme, and toilet facilities can be found in a 
range of premises of all types.  RADAR has published a scheme guidance 
document, which can be purchased from them. A list of RADAR key toilets is 
also published by region.48 

 
5.28 LAs should consider this provision when developing their local toilet strategies. 
 
5.29 The solutions put forward in this guidance are suggestions to increase public 

access to toilets.  It should be noted that the options set out here for increasing 
availability of toilet facilities are suggestions of avenues that LAs could and 
should explore. Those that can ultimately be taken up will differ between LAs 
according to local circumstances.  It is not suggested that it is feasible to 
provide all of these solutions in each LA, only that they should be considered. 

  

                                                             
47 https://nks.directenquiries.com/nks/page.aspx?pageid=10&tab=National+Key+Scheme&level=2 
48https://nks.directenquiries.com/nks/search.aspx?st=nks&tab=RADAR+Accessible+Toilets&where=wales&lev
el=1 
 

Security: LAs are not required to consider referring to toilets in buildings 
which, in their opinion, should not be made available for public use on 
security grounds. For example, LAs are not required to consider public 
access to toilets in prisons, or those buildings which require a high level of 
security, such as government buildings. 
 
Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults: LAs are not required to 
consider public access to toilets in schools or other buildings such as 
residential premises for children or vulnerable adults. However, local 
circumstances may permit the use of toilets in these types of premises. For 
example, a school building that is also open for wider community activities, 
or can be opened during school holidays.  
 
Any such proposed use should be given consideration on a case by case 
basis. 

Page 64



45 

6. PUBLICATION AND DISSEMINATION 

 
6.1 One of the purposes of the strategy is to help prevent the kinds of health and 

well-being issues as discussed elsewhere in this document. To help achieve 
this and for a strategy to be successful, and its preventative intention to be 
effective, it is essential that it is publicised and the provision of toilets for public 
use is made known to as wide a public as possible. The success of the strategy 
is dependent on members of the public and owners of facilities fully 
understanding the principles of the scheme and recognition of any signage or 
publicity materials. 

 
6.2 LAs should publish and publicise their first strategy no later than 31 May 2019.   

LAs are not required to submit their published strategies to the Welsh 
Government.  LAs are accountable to their councillors and residents for the 
publication of their strategy, completion of identified actions and subsequent 
interim statements. 

 
6.3 On publication, LAs should consider engaging again with the people they 

worked with in developing the assessment of need to disseminate the strategy. 
This could be done with the request that it be shared further with any networks 
individuals or groups may have access to. Third sector organisations and 
others should be encouraged to promote the message of the availability of 
toilets and to address any reluctance to access toilets that are not traditional 
public toilets.  All participants in the process of the assessment of need and 
delivery plans can play a part in this process of culture change. 

 
6.4 LAs should also consider how the wider public could be made aware of the 

strategy, and similar methods to those used for engagement with communities 
should be used. As a minimum, the strategy should be published in a prominent 
place on the website of each individual LA and publicised in any relevant LA 
maintained newsletters. Additional publicity approaches to ensure the 
information reaches as many people as possible, both residents and visitors, 
should also be considered.   

 
6.5 The Dewis Cymru (www.dewis.wales) website is a resource that brings 

together local information on social services, health and wellbeing services in 
one place.  A number of LAs already post their information to this site.  These 
are Isle of Anglesey, Gwynedd, Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire, Wrexham, 
Bridgend, the Vale of Glamorgan, Cardiff, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Merthyr Tydfil, 
Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Torfaen, Monmouthshire and Newport. It is being 
rolled out across other parts of Wales. LAs should post information about their 
toilets on this website as well as on their own. 

 
 
PUBLICITY MATERIALS 
 
6.6 Any publicity materials should be available in both downloadable and printed 

formats to ensure the information reaches as many people as possible, both 
residents and visitors. Any materials produced should be published in both 

Page 65



46 

Welsh and English, and should also be made available in other formats (such 
as Braille) on request.  Information should be published in a prominent location 
on the LA website. Printed versions could be distributed via visitor centres, 
libraries and other well attended venues. Consideration should also be given to 
the need for necessary street signage. 

 
6.7 To assist LAs with the publicising of information on the location of toilets, and 

help the general public identify the provision of toilets for public use, both locally 
and nationally, the following tools have been developed.  

 
 
TOILET MAP DEVELOPMENT 
 
6.8 The development of a national toilet map for Wales will provide the public both 

locally and nationally with a resource that they can use to see the availability of 
toilets in an area they intend to visit.  This will be developed by utilising data 
provided by LAs, in existing mapping tools, to Welsh Government. The map, 
utilising the data, will be presented in Welsh and English on the Welsh 
Government’s Lle data mapping website49.  The data collected will also be 
made available to third parties who will be able to use it to develop their own 
maps and apps.  The Welsh Government does not intend to develop its own 
app as it is considered that third party developers are better placed to do this 
utilising the Welsh Government data and there are already apps of this kind in 
use. 

 
6.9 To deliver this, under section 141 of the Local Government Act 1972, LAs 

should make an open dataset available to the Welsh Government, containing 
information consisting of the location and specified characteristics of the toilets 
they identify under their local toilets strategies. Full details on the data required 
and how it will be collected are provided in a separate technical guidance 
document.   

 
6.10 LAs are asked to post details about their toilets to the Dewis Cymru website, 

and it is hoped that eventually the data collected for the Lle mapping can be 
cross referenced with the Dewis website. This is still being developed and 
further advice will be given once the mapping process is underway. 

 
 
NATIONAL LOGO 
 
6.11 We know that a national recognised scheme has many benefits, therefore it is 

considered desirable to advertise provision of toilets for public use in a 
consistent way. A logo can be used as signage, for example displayed in 
windows of premises that have consented to allow their toilet facilities to be 
used by the public. It can also be contained within printed materials to identify 
those premises.  

 

                                                             
49 http://lle.gov.wales/home 
 

Page 66



47 

6.12 A logo has been designed for this purpose and will be released for use at a 
later date.  When released, it would be helpful if LAs adopt and publicise it, so 
that residents and visitors will readily recognise it wherever they are in Wales. 
Although its use is not mandated within the Act, we recommend that LAs 
incorporate the logo as part of their awareness raising of toilets for public use.  

 
6.13 Full details on the logo and its suggested use will be provided at Annex B. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 67



48 

ANNEX A 
LEGAL PROVISIONS 

 
Sections 113 to 115 of the Act have been covered in the main body of this guidance.   
 
This annex covers sections 116 to 118 of the Act which restate or replace various 
legal powers that LAs already have.  This annex also covers other legislation of 
relevance to the provision of toilets for public use.   
 
Section 116(1) provides that a LA may provide toilets in their area for use by the 
public.  This section restates the power that LAs previously had under section 87 of 
the Public Health Act 1936. Section 116(1) essentially means that the provision and 
maintenance of toilets in public places is at the discretion of LAs who have power to 
provide public conveniences, but are under no duty to do so. 
 
Section 116(2) provides that LAs must have regard to their own strategy when 
deciding to exercise their discretionary power to provide toilets, and of what type. 
Section 116(3) provides definitions relevant to section 116(2). 
 
Section 116(4) provides that a LA may not provide toilets on or under land adjoining, 
or in the vicinity of a highway or proposed highway unless the LA is the highway 
authority or has the consent of the highway authority.  Section 116(6) provides 
definitions relevant to section 116(4). 
 
Section 116(5) provides that a LA may charge for the use of any toilets they may 
provide. 
 
Section 117(1) provides LAs that provide toilets with the power to make byelaws as 
to the conduct of people using or entering those toilets. 
 
Section 117(2) reserves the right of a community council to make byelaws in relation 
to toilets provided by them, in which case their byelaws take precedence over any 
byelaws made by the county or county borough council under section 2 of the Local 
Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012.  
 
Section 118 and Schedule 4 of the Act deals with consequential amendments to the 
Public Health Act 1936; Highways Act 1980 and the Local Government Byelaws 
(Wales) Act 2012. 
 
The following legislation is also of relevance when considering the development of 
the local toilets strategies. 
 
 
Local Government Act 1972, section 123 
 
A LA may dispose of its property however it wishes to do.  In circumstances where 
LA property is being leased to a private party for the property’s use as, for example, 
a café, the LA may exercise its section 123 power to insert a condition into the lease 
agreement to the effect that the new occupier/s of the premise would be required to 
make the toilet facilities available for use by the public. 

Page 68



49 

 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, section 20 
 
A LA has power under section 20 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 to require toilets to be provided and maintained for public use in 
any place providing entertainment, exhibitions, sporting events and places serving 
food and drink for consumption on the premises. 
 
Highways Act 1980, section 114 
 
Where the LA is the authority for a highway they may provide public sanitary 
conveniences (including toilets) in proper and convenient situations and may 
manage such conveniences. 
 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 106 
 
In limited circumstances, a LA, in their capacity as local planning authorities, may 
use powers under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to make an 
agreement with a developer for the provision of toilets for public use as part of an 
approved development. 
 
Local Government Act 2000, section 2 
 
A LA may do anything which it considers is likely to achieve the promotion or 
improvement of the well-being of its area. This may include entering into grant 
agreements with the operators of commercial premises in order to require such 
operators to allow public access to the toilet facilities at the premises. 
 
Equality Act 2010 
 
The Equality Act 2010 covers a wide range of duties and responsibilities that LAs 
should have regard to in relation to people with protected characteristics and the 
provision of services and facilities.   
 
 
Other powers 
 
LA Environmental Health Officers can review plans and licence applications and 
object that an application does not meet the requirements of relevant British 
Standards relating to sanitary facilities. 
 
 

Other tools 

The British Standard BS6465-1:2006 Code of Practice for the design of sanitary 
installations and scales of provision of sanitary and associated appliances can be 
used to secure an appropriate level of provision, design quality and accessibility for 
toilets in new buildings and those undergoing major refurbishment. 
 

Page 69



50 

The British Standard BS 8300:2009+A1:2010 Code of Practice for the design of 
buildings and their approaches to meet the needs of people with disabilities. 
 
Leasing conditions can also be useful for providing access to additional toilets for 
public use.  When letting council properties, LAs could consider including clauses 
within the lease to allow the public access to toilets on the premises when 
appropriate. 
  

Page 70



51 

 

ANNEX B 

NATIONAL TOILET LOGO 

 
To be provided. 
 
  

Page 71



52 

ANNEX C 
 

USEFUL REFERENCES 
 
 
Assessment Tools 
 
 
Assessments of Local Wellbeing – Common data set 
 
http://www.dataunitwales.gov.uk/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=30&mid=64&fileid=95 
 
 
Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 
 
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation/?lang=en 
 
Wales Census Data 
 
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/census-population/?lang=en 
 
Future Trends Data 
 
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/future-trends 
 
Population projections 
 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/Local-
Authority 
 
Transport Trends 
 
http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/?topic=Transport&lang=en 
 
Disability Figures 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disability-facts-and-figures/disability-facts-and-
figures#fn:1 
 
Tourism Statistics 
 
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/?topic=Tourism&lang=en 
 
Welsh Language Commissioner - Guidance for Organisations 
 
http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/English/Organisations/Pages/InformationForOrganisations.a
spx 
 
Welsh Health Impact Assessment Support Unit 
 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522 
 
 

Page 72



53 

Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 
 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.wales.nhs.uk/equality-impact-assessment-toolkit 
 
Population Needs Assessment 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/act/population/?lang=en 
 
Wales Spatial Plan 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/development-plans/wales-spatial-plan/?lang=en 
 
Place Plans 
 
http://www.planningaidwales.org.uk/place-plans-from-concept-to-reality/ 
 
Destination Management Plans 
 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/dmwales/ 
 
Business Wales Tourism Pages 
 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/working-together 
 
Tourism Amenity Investment Support 
 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/finance#guides-tabs--4 
 
 
Policy Guidance 
 
Prosperity for All 
 
https://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf 
 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and Toolkit 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en 
 
Older People’s Strategy for Wales 
 
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130521olderpeoplestrategyen.pdf 
 
The Importance and Impact of Community Services in Wales – Older People’s 
Commissioner Report 2014 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-02-
25/The_Importance_and_Impact_of_Community_Services_within_Wales.aspx 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



54 

Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments Guidance – Older People’s 
Commissioner  
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/16-02-
16/Section_12_Guidance_Equality_and_Human_Rights_Impact_Assessments_Scrutiny.aspx 
 
 
Preparing Local Wellbeing Plans for Public Services Boards – Older People’s 
Commissioner 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/16-10-
05/Preparing_Local_Wellbeing_Plans_Guidance_for_Public_Services_Boards.aspx 
 
Engagement and consultation with older people – Older People’s 
Commissioner Guidance 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-07-
01/Best_Practice_Guidance_for_Engagement_and_Consultation_with_Older_People_on_Changes_t
o_Community_Services_in_Wales.aspx 
 
 
Wellbeing Indicators for Older People 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/news/news/15-03-
19/Wellbeing_Indicators_for_Older_People.aspx#.VYgVr9JFDcs 
 
Transgender Action Plan 
 
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/160314-transgender-action-plan-en.pdf 
 
Local Wellbeing Plans 
 
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-en.pdf 
 
Child Poverty Strategy 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-
poverty/?lang=en 
 
Tackling Poverty Action Plan 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/tackling-poverty/taking-forward-tackling-poverty-
action-plan/?lang=en   
 
Welsh Language Strategy 
 
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/122902wls201217en.pdf    
 
Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013, Statutory and Design Guidance 
 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/66/section/114 
 
https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-design-guidance 
 

Page 74



55 

https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-statutory-guidance-local-authorities 
 
 
Practical Guidance 
 
Changing Places information and guidance 
 
http://www.changing-places.org/ 
 
Blue Flag Scheme (includes criteria for toilet provision) 
 
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/blue-flag 
 
Welsh Health Impact Assessment Support Unit 
 
https://whiasu.publichealthnetwork.cymru/en/ 
 
 
Community Asset Transfer guidance and resources 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-transfer/?lang=en 
 
Community Toilets Scheme Guidance  
 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919231747/http://www.communities.gov.uk/publicatio
ns/localgovernment/guidancetoiletschemes 
 
 
The Purple Guide to Health, Safety and Welfare at Music and Other Events 
 
https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/ 
 
The Green Guide (Safety at Sports Grounds) 
 
http://www.safetyatsportsgrounds.org.uk/publications/green-guide 
 
 
HSE Resources – Event Safety 
 
http://www.hse.gov.uk/event-safety/index.htm 
 
 
Miscellaneous Information 
 
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/1794/overcoming-barriers-and-identifying-opportunities-for-
everyday-walking-for-disabled-people.pdf 
 
The London Plan: Social Infrastructure Section S6 on Public Toilets 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



56 

Business Improvement Districts 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/grants-and-funding/business-improvement-
districts/?lang=en 
 
Code of Practice for Public Toilets in Britain 
 
www.researchgate.net/publication/228916130_A_Code_of_Practice_for_Public_Toilets_in_Britain 
 
 
Just Can’t Wait card scheme 
 
https://www.bladderandbowel.org/help-information/just-cant-wait-card/ 
 
Mobile toilet facilities for people with disabilities 
 
https://www.mobiloo.org.uk/ 
 
 

Page 76



 

 

By email 
        11/01/2019  

 
 
 
Re: Ymgynghoriad Strategaeth Toiledau Lleol / Local Toilets Strategy Consultation   
 
Dear Sian Wolfe-Williams, 
  
Thank you for sending us the Caerphilly Local Toilets Strategy Consultation. 
  
I receive a large amount of consultation requests. Given the capacity of my office, I have set our priority areas to 
focus my resources. I seek to give full responses to the consultations which relate to my priorities (i.e. transport, 
housing stock, energy, adverse childhood experiences, skills for the future and social prescribing) in accordance 
with my strategic plan.  
  
As this consultation relates to Caerphilly's local toilets strategy, it does not meet my criteria. 
  
Having said that, to support your work I attach some of my Future Generations Frameworks. I expect public 
bodies, like Caerphilly Council, to fully implement the Act and carry out the duties that it sets out. To this effect, 
my frameworks set prompts to guide public bodies in formulating policies and taking decisions, but also 
to scrutinize such decisions or policies. 
  
As you will see the prompts set out in the frameworks will be relevant to your consultation exercise (its substance 
and the way you use the five ways of working) and should, therefore, guide your work.  
  
It is important that well-being objectives (of both public bodies and public services boards), the well-being 
assessments and plans, the statutory goals and the sustainable development principle (including the 5 ways of 
working) are considered throughout the process. 
  
I hope that you will find these frameworks useful.  
  
As I would like to create documents that are of great use for people and public bodies, I will continue developing 
my frameworks. Therefore, I would be grateful if you could provide us with any feedback on your experience of 
using them as part of your work. 
  
Thank you in advance. 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 2

Page 77



 

 

Yours sincerely,  
  

  
  
  
Marie Brousseau-Navarro  
Director of Policy, Legislation and Innovation  
  
p.p. Sophie Howe  
 
 

 
 

Page 78



 

 

COMMUNITY COUNCIL LIAISON COMMITTEE – 10TH JULY 2019 

CCBC CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT – TRAFFIC REGULATIONS 

ORDERS UPDATE 

 

Response from Principal Engineer Communities 

Any changes to our existing traffic regulation orders would require the full traffic regulation 

order (TRO) procedure (attached at Appendix 1) to be followed, which generally takes in the 

order of 6-9 months to complete due to the statutory processes involved.   

Our current list of new/requested traffic regulation orders is quite extensive and is therefore 

likely to take us a significant amount of time to deliver.  However, in view of the fact that we 

have only just started operating Civil Parking Enforcement it would be beneficial for us to 

understand what impact the increased level of enforcement has prior to progressing any new 

parking related traffic orders, and review the outstanding (and any new) requests with the 

benefit of that knowledge.  

 The process for reviewing the impact of CPE and these outstanding and future requests in 

order to arrive at an approved TRO delivery programme has yet to be agreed. Officers will 

be engaging with County Councillors in this discussion as part of agreeing the priorities for 

future TROs and a seminar for County Councillors is being arranged for early October to 

discuss and agree a way forward. 

Arrangements will be made for that presentation to be circulated to Community Councils. 

 

Appendix 1: The Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 1996 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 80



Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

1996 No. 2489

ROAD TRAFFIC

The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure)
(England and Wales) Regulations 1996

Made       -      -      -      - 26th September 1996

Laid before Parliament 9th October 1996

Coming into force       -      - 1st December 1996

The Secretary of State for Transport as respects England and the Secretary of State for Wales as
respects Wales, in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 35C(3) and (4), 46A(3) and (4) and
124(1) of, and Part III of Schedule 9 to, the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984(1) and by paragraphs
6(3) and 7(1) of Schedule 5 to the Local Government Act 1985(2) and of all other powers enabling
them in that behalf, and after consultation with representative organisations in accordance with
section 134(2) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, hereby make the following Regulations:

PART I
GENERAL

Citation and commencement

1. These Regulations may be cited as the Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England
and Wales) Regulations 1996 and shall come into force on 1st December 1996.

Revocation and transitional provisions

2.—(1)  Subject to paragraph (2), the Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England
and Wales) Regulations 1989(3) and the Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and
Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 1993(4) are hereby revoked.

(1) 1984 c. 27. Section 35C was inserted by section 41 of the Road Traffic Act 1991 (c. 40); section 46A was inserted by section 42
of the Road Traffic Act 1991; and paragraphs 21 and 23 of Part III of Schedule 9 were amended by the Local Government Act
1985 (c. 51), Schedule 5, paragraph 4(39)(i) and (j) and by the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (c. 22), Schedule 8,
paragraph 80(4) and Schedule 9.

(2) 1985 c. 51. Paragraph 6(3) of Schedule 5 was amended by paragraph 116 of Schedule 8 to the New Roads and Street Works
Act 1991.

(3) S.I.1989/1120.
(4) S.I. 1993/1500.

[DOT 2087]

Appendix 1

Page 81

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1984/27
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1991/40
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1985/51
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1991/22
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1985/51
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1989/1120
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1993/1500


Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(2)  Where a notice relating to an order has been published pursuant to regulation 6 or 16
of the Local Authorities' Traffic Order (Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1989, those
Regulations shall continue to apply to that order as if they had not been revoked and nothing in these
Regulations shall apply to the order.

(3)  Nothing in these Regulations shall be taken as affecting the operation of sections 16 and 17
of the Interpretation Act 1978(5) (effect of repeals).

Interpretation

3.—(1)  In these Regulations—
“the 1984 Act” means the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984;
“the 1985 Act” means the Local Government Act 1985;
“the 1991 Act” means the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991;
“Crown road” and “appropriate Crown authority” have the meanings given by section 131(7)
of the 1984 Act(6);
“deposited documents” in relation to an order means such documents as are required in
connection with that order to be kept available for public inspection in accordance with
Schedule 2;
“experimental order” means an order made under section 9 of the 1984 Act;
“inspector” means a person appointed pursuant to regulation 9(2) to hold a public inquiry;
“local authority” means—
(a) in relation to England—

(i) the council of a county, district, or London borough;
(ii) the Common Council of the City of London;
(iii) the Council of the Isles of Scilly; or
(iv) a parish council;

in relation to Wales—
(i) a county council;
(ii) a county borough council; or
(iii) a community council;
“local service” has the meaning given by section 2 of the Transport Act 1985(7);
“London authority” means a London borough council or the Common Council of the City of
London;
“London bus service” has the meaning given by section 34(2)(b) of the Transport Act 1985;
“minor order” has the meaning given by regulation 21(1)(b);
“notice of making” has the meaning given by regulation 17(2);
“notice of proposals” has the meaning given by regulation 7(1)(a);
“order making authority”, in relation to an order, means the authority which has made it or
has proposed to make it;

(5) 1978 c. 30.
(6) Section 131(7) was amended by the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, Schedule 8, paragraph 75.
(7) 1985 c. 67.

2

Page 82

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1978/30
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1985/67


Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

“public service vehicle” has the meaning given by section 1 of the Public Passenger Vehicles
Act 1981(8); and
“road” includes any length of road and any part of the width of a road and, in relation to an
order under section 6 of the 1984 Act, any length of a street as defined in sub-section (6) of
that section and any part of the width of such a street.

(2)  A reference in these Regulations to an order is to an order or a proposed order as appropriate
and, in the case of a proposed order, a reference to the effect of the order (however expressed) is
to its effect if it were to be made.

(3)  A reference in these Regulations to an order under a specified section of the 1984 Act includes
—

(a) a reference to an order varying or revoking an order made, or having effect as if made,
under that section; and

(b) in relation to the variation or revocation of an order, or to the application of the provisions
of an order, a reference to an order having effect as if made under that section.

(4)  Without prejudice to paragraph (3), a reference in these Regulations to—
(a) the variation or revocation of an order under section 46 or 49 of the 1984 Act, or
(b) the application of a provision of an order under either of those sections,

includes a reference to the variation, revocation or application (as the case may be) of the provisions
of an order which has been continued in force by paragraph 11(1) of Schedule 10 to the 1984 Act.

(5)  Except where it is expressly provided otherwise—
(a) a reference to a numbered regulation or Schedule is a reference to the regulation or

Schedule so numbered in these Regulations; and
(b) a reference to a numbered paragraph is a reference to the paragraph so numbered of the

regulation or Schedule in which the reference occurs.

Application of Regulations

4.—(1)  This Part and Parts II, III and IV of these Regulations apply to orders made or proposed
to be made by a local authority under section 1, 6, 9, 19, 29, 32, 35, 37, 38, 45, 46, 49, 61, 83(2) or
84 of the 1984 Act and this Part and Part V apply to notices given or proposed to be given under
section 35C or 46A of that Act.

(2)  Except as provided by regulation 14(2)(a), these Regulations apply to orders made or proposed
to be made pursuant to a direction by the Secretary of State under Part I of Schedule 9 to the 1984
Act as they apply to orders not so made.

PART II
PROCEDURE BEFORE MAKING AN ORDER

Preliminary

5. This Part of these Regulations has effect subject to the provisions of Part IV.

(8) 1981 c. 14. Section 1 was amended by the Transport Act 1985, Schedule 8.
3

Page 83

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1981/14


Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

Consultation

6.—(1)  An order making authority shall, before making an order in a case specified in column
(2) of an item in the table below, consult the persons specified in column (3) of the item.

TABLE

(1) (2) (3)
Item Case Consultee

1. Where the order relates to, or
appears to the order making
authority to be likely to
affect traffic on, a road for
which another authority is the
highway authority or the traffic
authority

The other authority

2. Where the order relates to, or
appears to the order making
authority to be likely to affect
traffic on, a Crown road

The appropriate Crown
authority

3. Where the order relates to, or
appears to the order making
authority to be likely to affect
traffic on, a road subject to a
concession

The concessionaire

4. Where the order relates to, or
appears to the order making
authority to be likely to affect
traffic on, a road on which
a tramcar or trolley vehicle
service is provided

The operator of the service

5. Where the order relates
to, or appears to the order
making authority to be likely to
affect traffic on,–

(a) a road outside
Greater London
which is included in
the route of a local
service; or

In case (a) the operator of the
service

(b) (b)  a road
in Greater London
which is included in
the route of a London
bus service

In case (b) the operator of the
service and London Regional
Transport

6. Where it appears to the
authority that the order is likely
to affect the passage on any road
of–

In case (a) the chief officer of
the appropriate NHS trust

4

Page 84



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(1) (2) (3)
Item Case Consultee

(a) ambulances; or

(b) (b)  fire-fighting
vehicles

In case (b) the chief officer
of the fire brigade of the fire
authority

7. All cases (a) (a)  The
Freight Transport
Association

(b) The Road Haulage
Association

(c) Such other
organisations (if any)
representing persons
likely to be affected
by any provision in
the order as the order
making authority
thinks it appropriate
to consult

(2)  In paragraph (1)—
“appropriate NHS trust” in relation to a road or place means the National Health Service trust
providing an emergency ambulance service in the area in which the road or place is situated
and “National Health Service trust” has the meaning given by section 128(1) of the National
Health Service Act 1977(9);
“concessionaire” has the meaning given by section 1(1) of the 1991 Act;
“fire authority” in relation to a road or place means the authority exercising the functions of
a fire authority under the Fire Services Act 1947(10) in the area in which the road or place
is situated;
“highway authority” has the same meaning as in the Highways Act 1980(11);
“road subject to a concession” has the meaning given by section 1(2) of the 1991 Act; and
“trolley vehicle” does not include a duobus as defined in the Tramcar and Trolley Vehicles
(Modification of Enactments) Regulations 1992(12).

(3)  The requirements of this regulation are without prejudice to the provisions of—
(a) paragraph 20 of Schedule 9 to the 1984 Act (consultation with the chief officer of police);
(b) paragraph 6(3)(c) of Schedule 5 to the 1985 Act (consultation required of London

authorities and metropolitan district councils); and
(c) any other provision of the 1984 Act requiring consultation.

Publication of proposals

7.—(1)  An order making authority shall, before making an order,—

(9) 1977 c. 49. The definition of “National Health Service trust” in section 128(1) was inserted by section 26(2)(d) of the National
Health Service and Community Care Act 1990 (c. 19).

(10) 1947 c. 41; read with paragraph 2 of Schedule 11 to the Local Government Act 1985.
(11) 1980 c. 66.
(12) S.I. 1992/1217.

5

Page 85

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1977/49
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1990/19
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1947/41
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1980/66
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1992/1217


Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(a) publish at least once a notice (in these Regulations called a “notice of proposals”)
containing the particulars specified in Parts I and II of Schedule 1 in a newspaper
circulating in the area in which any road or other place to which the order relates is situated;

(b) in the case of an order under section 6 of the 1984 Act, publish a similar notice in the
London Gazette;

(c) take such other steps as it may consider appropriate for ensuring that adequate publicity
about the order is given to persons likely to be affected by its provisions and, without
prejudice to the generality of this sub-paragraph, such other steps may include—

(i) in the case of an order to which sub-paragraph (b) does not apply, publication of a
notice in the London Gazette;

(ii) the display of notices in roads or other places affected by the order; or
(iii) the delivery of notices or letters to premises, or premises occupied by persons,

appearing to the authority to be likely to be affected by any provision in the order.
(2)  Not later than the date on which paragraph (1) has been complied with, the order making

authority shall send a copy of the notice of proposals to each body or person whom it is required to
consult under regulation 6(1) or under any of the provisions referred to in regulation 6(2).

(3)  The order making authority shall comply with the requirements of Schedule 2 as to the making
of deposited documents available for public inspection.

(4)  Deposited documents shall be made so available at the times and at the places specified in the
notice of proposals throughout the period beginning with the date on which the notice of proposals
is first published and ending with the last day of the period of 6 weeks which begins with the date
on which the order is made or, as the case may be, the authority decides not to make the order.

Objections

8.—(1)  Any person may object to the making of an order by the date specified in the notice of
proposals or, if later, the end of the period of 21 days beginning with the date on which the order
making authority has complied with all the requirements of regulation 7(1) to (3).

(2)  Without prejudice to its right to object under paragraph (1), an authority required to be
consulted under paragraph 6(3)(c) of Part II of Schedule 5 to the 1985 Act may object to the making
of an order by the end of the period of 21 days beginning with the date on which the notice of
proposals was sent to that authority.

(3)  An objection under paragraph (1) or (2) shall—
(a) be made in writing;
(b) state the grounds on which it is made; and
(c) be sent to the address specified in the notice of proposals,

and an objection under paragraph (2) shall in addition state whether or not it is alleged that the order
would have any direct effect on traffic on any road, other than a trunk road, in the area of the authority
making the objection.

Holding a public inquiry

9.—(1)  The order making authority shall cause a public inquiry to be held before making an
order to which paragraph (3) applies and may cause such an inquiry to be held before making any
other order.

(2)  A public inquiry shall be held by an inspector appointed by the order making authority and
selected from a panel of persons chosen by the Secretary of State to hold such inquiries.

(3)  Subject to paragraphs (4) and (5), this paragraph applies to an order if—
6

Page 86



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(a) its effect is to prohibit the loading or unloading of vehicles or vehicles of any class in a
road on any day of the week—

(i) at all times;
(ii) before 07.00 hours;

(iii) between 10.00 and 16.00 hours; or
(iv) after 19.00 hours,

and an objection has been made to the order (other than one which the order making
authority is satisfied is frivolous or irrelevant) and not withdrawn; or

(b) its effect is to prohibit or restrict the passage of public service vehicles along a road and
an objection has been made to the order in accordance with regulation 8—

(i) in the case of a road outside Greater London, by the operator of a local service the
route of which includes that road; or

(ii) in the case of a road in Greater London, by the operator of a London bus service the
route of which includes that road or by London Regional Transport.

(4)  For the purposes of paragraph (3)(a), an order shall not be taken to have the effect of
prohibiting loading at any time to the extent that it—

(a) authorises the use of part of a road as a parking place, or designates a parking place on a
road, for the use of a disabled person’s vehicle as defined by section 142(1) of the 1984
Act;

(b) relates to a length of the side of a road extending 15 metres in either direction from the
point where one road joins the side of another road,

unless the effect of the order taken with prohibitions already imposed is to prohibit loading and
unloading by vehicles of any class at the time in question for a total distance of more than 30 metres
out of 50 metres on one side of any length of road.

(5)  Paragraph (3) does not apply to an order—
(a) if it is an experimental order;
(b) made under section 84 of the 1984 Act (speed limits on roads other than restricted roads);

or
(c) to the extent that it relates to a road which forms part of a priority route designated by

the Secretary of State pursuant to section 50 of the Road Traffic Act 1991 (designation
of priority routes in London).

(6)  In this regulation “public service vehicle” has the meaning given by section 1 of the Public
Passenger Vehicles Act 1981(13).

Notice of a public inquiry

10.—(1)  If the order making authority decides, before publishing a notice of proposals, that a
public inquiry should be held in connection with an order, it shall include in that notice a statement
that an inquiry will be so held together with the particulars specified in paragraphs 5, 6 and 7 of
Schedule 3.

(2)  Where the holding of a public inquiry is announced in accordance with paragraph (1) the
inquiry shall not begin less than 42 days after the first publication of the notice of proposals.

(3)  In any other case where a public inquiry is held in connection with an order, the order making
authority shall—

(13) Section 85 was amended by the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, Schedule 8, paragraph 62 and by the Road Traffic
Act 1991, Schedule 4, paragraph 30 and Schedule 8.

7

Page 87



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(a) publish at least once in a local newspaper circulating in the area in which any road or other
place to which the order relates is situated a notice containing the particulars specified in
Schedule 3;

(b) give notice in writing containing the particulars specified in Schedule 3 to each person
who has objected in accordance with regulation 8 and not withdrawn the objection; and

(c) take such other steps as it may consider appropriate for ensuring that adequate publicity
about the inquiry is given to persons likely to be affected by the provisions of the order to
which it relates and, without prejudice to the generality of this sub-paragraph, such other
steps may include—

(i) an advertisement in the London Gazette;
(ii) the display of notices in roads or other places affected by the order; or

(iii) the delivery of notices or letters to premises, or premises occupied by persons,
appearing to the authority to be likely to be affected by any provision in the order.

(4)  An inquiry to which paragraph (3) applies shall not begin less than 21 days after whichever
is the later of—

(a) the last day for objecting in accordance with regulation 8; or
(b) the date on which paragraph (3) was complied with.

Procedure at a public inquiry

11.—(1)  Subject to paragraphs (2) to (4), the procedure at a public inquiry shall be determined
by the inspector.

(2)  Any person interested in the subject matter of a public inquiry may appear at the inquiry in
person or by counsel, a solicitor or other representative.

(3)  Any person so interested may, whether or not he proposes to appear at the inquiry, send
written representations for the consideration of the inspector to the address given in accordance
with paragraph 7 of Schedule 3 in the notice of proposals or the notice published pursuant to
regulation 10(3)(a).

(4)  The inspector may refuse to hear any person, or to consider any objection or representation,
if he considers that the views of that person or the objection or representation are irrelevant or have
already been adequately stated at the inquiry.

Consent of the Secretary of State

12.—(1)  Where an order is one which, by virtue of Part II of Schedule 9 to the 1984 Act, may
not be made without the consent of the Secretary of State, the order making authority’s application
for consent shall be accompanied by copies of the deposited documents and the documents referred
to in paragraph (2).

(2)  The documents are—
(a) a statement of the views on the order of the chief officer of police;
(b) a list of persons and organisations consulted under regulation 6 and a statement of any

views expressed or, if no views were expressed, a statement to that effect;
(c) a statement of the publicity measures undertaken under regulation 7(1)(c);
(d) copies of all objections which have not been withdrawn and of any correspondence with

the objectors or a statement that there are no such objections;
(e) if a public inquiry has been held, a copy of the inspector’s report and of any

recommendations he made; and

8

Page 88



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(f) in a case where the order relates to a Crown road, a copy of the consent of the appropriate
Crown authority and particulars of those Crown authorities whose persons and vehicles
will be affected by the making of the order.

Consideration of objections and inspector’s report

13. Before making an order, the order making authority shall consider—
(a) all objections duly made under regulation 8 and not withdrawn; and
(b) if a public inquiry was held, the inspector’s report and any recommendations he made.

Modifications

14.—(1)  Subject to the provisions of this regulation, an order making authority may modify an
order, whether in consequence of any objections or otherwise, before it is made.

(2)  An order making authority shall not modify an order—
(a) so as to alter the form of the order from the form in which the Secretary of State or any

appropriate Crown authority has consented to its being made or the Secretary of State has,
under paragraph 2 of Schedule 9 to the 1984 Act(14), directed that it should be made; or

(b) so that its form would be inconsistent with a determination of the Secretary of State under
paragraph 7 of Schedule 5 to the 1985 Act.

(3)  Before an order is made with modifications which appear to the order making authority or, in
a consent case, to the Secretary of State to make a substantial change in the order, the order making
authority shall take the steps required by paragraph (4).

(4)  The steps are such steps as appear to the order making authority appropriate or (in a consent
case) as the Secretary of State may require for—

(a) informing persons likely to be affected by the modifications;
(b) giving those persons an opportunity of making representations; and
(c) ensuring that any such representations are duly considered by the authority and, in a

consent case where he so requests, by the Secretary of State.
(5)  In this regulation—

(a) “consent case” means a case where the Secretary of State’s consent is required to the
making of an order; and

(b) “modifications” has, in the case of an order made by a London authority, the meaning
given by paragraph 23(2) of Schedule 9 to the 1984 Act and in any other case the same
meaning as in paragraph 22 of that Schedule and “modify” shall be construed accordingly.

PART III
MAKING AN ORDER

Preliminary

15. This Part of these Regulations has effect subject to the provisions of Part IV.

(14) S.I. 1986/178, amended by S.I. 1991/2709.
9

Page 89

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1986/178
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1991/2709


Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

Making an order and bringing it into force

16.—(1)  An order shall not be made—
(a) until after the last date by which any person may object in accordance with regulation 8;
(b) in a case where an objection has been made pursuant to regulation 8(2) or 24(2), until after

the order making authority has notified the Secretary of State of its proposed exercise of
power and of the objection under paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 5 to the 1985 Act and the
Secretary of State has made a determination under paragraph 7(3) of that Schedule.

(2)  No order shall be made after the expiration of the period of two years beginning with the date
on which a notice of proposals relating to the order is first published.

(3)  No provision of an order shall come into force before the date on which the order making
authority intend to publish a notice of making as respects the order.

Action after making

17.—(1)  As soon as practicable after an order has been made, the order making authority shall
include among the deposited documents a copy of the order as actually made.

(2)  The order making authority shall, within 14 days of the making of the order,—
(a) publish in a newspaper circulating in the area in which any road or place to which the

order relates is situated, a notice (in these Regulations called a “notice of making”)—
(i) stating that the order has been made; and

(ii) containing the particulars specified in Parts I and III of Schedule 1; and
(b) in the case of an order under section 6 or an order made by a London authority under

section 9 of the 1984 Act, publish a similar notice in the London Gazette.
(3)  Within 14 days of making an order, the order making authority shall notify the making of

the order in writing to any person who has objected to the order under regulation 8 and has not
withdrawn the objection and, where the objection has not been wholly acceded to, shall include in
that notification the reasons for the decision.

(4)  The order making authority shall take such other steps of the kinds referred to in
regulation 7(1)(c) as it considers appropriate for the purpose of ensuring that adequate publicity is
given to the making of the order.

Traffic signs

18.—(1)  Where an order relating to any road has been made, the order making authority shall
take such steps as are necessary to secure—

(a) before the order comes into force, the placing on or near the road of such traffic signs
in such positions as the order making authority may consider requisite for securing that
adequate information as to the effect of the order is made available to persons using the
road;

(b) the maintenance of such signs for so long as the order remains in force; and
(c) in a case where the order revokes, amends or alters the application of a previous order,

the removal or replacement of existing traffic signs as the authority considers requisite to
avoid confusion to road users by signs being left in the wrong positions.

(2)  The order making authority shall consult the appropriate Crown authority before carrying out
the requirements of sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of paragraph (1) in relation to a Crown road.

10

Page 90



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(3)  This regulation is without prejudice to section 85 of the 1984 Act(15) (traffic signs for
indicating speed limits).

PART IV
SPECIAL PROCEDURAL PROVISIONS FOR CERTAIN ORDERS

Making an order in part

19.—(1)  Subject to the provisions of this regulation and of regulation 24, where an order making
authority has, in relation to an order, complied with regulations 6 (consultation), 7 (publication of
proposals) and 13 (consideration of objections and inspector’s report), they may make the order in
part by making an order giving effect to some of the proposals to which the order relates whilst
deferring a decision on the remainder.

(2)  Where an order has been made in part in accordance with paragraph (1), the order making
authority may subsequently deal with the remaining proposals to which the order relates in any, or
any combination, of the following ways—

(a) abandon them;
(b) defer a decision on them;
(c) make an order or orders giving effect to them in whole or in part.

(3)  Where, pursuant to paragraph (2), an authority has deferred a decision on any proposals, it
may subsequently deal with those proposals in any way permitted by that paragraph.

(4)  Where an order is made or proposed to be made in part by virtue of this regulation, Parts II
and III of these Regulations shall apply to it as if the procedural steps previously taken under these
Regulations, and any notices published or instruments prepared under them, in connection with the
order as originally proposed had related only to the provisions of the order as made or proposed to
be made in part.

(5)  The notice of making published, or any notification under regulation 17(3) given, on the
making of an order by virtue of this regulation shall—

(a) indicate briefly the proposals (if any) to be given effect in the order as originally proposed
which have been abandoned or in relation to which the decision of the order making
authority has been deferred; and

(b) where the order is made by virtue of paragraph (3), give particulars of the title and date
of every previous order made by virtue of this regulation in relation to the same order as
originally proposed.

(6)  In the application of regulation 14 to an order made by virtue of paragraph (1), (2) or (3)
of this regulation, such an order shall be regarded for the purposes of regulation 14(3) as an order
made with modifications.

Revocation and re-enactment of an order not published on making

20.—(1)  This regulation applies where—
(a) an order (“the previous order”) has been made in circumstances where the order making

authority is required to publish a notice of making;
(b) the authority has failed to comply with regulation 17(2) or is satisfied that it will be unable

to do so; and

(15) Part I of S.I. 1994/1519.
11

Page 91

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1994/1519


Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(c) no provision of the order has come into force.
(2)  Where this regulation applies the order making authority which made the previous order may,

subject to the following provisions of this regulation and the provisions of regulation 24, make—
(a) an order (“a revocation order”) the sole effect of which is to revoke the previous order

in whole;
(b) an order (“a replacement order”) the sole effect of which is to revoke the previous order

in whole and to re-enact it with a different commencement date; or
(c) in a case where a revocation order has been made in relation to the previous order, an order

(“a delayed re-enactment order”) the sole effect of which is to re-enact the previous order
with a different commencement date.

(3)  A revocation order shall come into force on the day on which it is made.
(4)  If, in relation to a revocation order, it is not practicable for the order making authority to

comply with the requirements of paragraphs (2) and (3) of regulation 17 within the time specified
in those paragraphs but the authority complies with those requirements as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter, it shall be taken to have complied with those paragraphs.

(5)  A replacement order—
(a) so far as it revokes the previous order must come into force on the day on which it is made;
(b) so far as it re-enacts the provisions of the previous order—

(i) apart from the differing commencement dates, must have the same effect as the
previous order, and

(ii) must not come into force before the date allowed by regulation 16(3); and
(c) shall not be made unless the requirements of these Regulations (except those of

regulations 17(2) to (4) and 18) and of the 1984 Act had been complied with in relation
to the previous order.

(6)  A delayed re-enactment order shall not be made more than six months after the date on which
the previous order was made and sub-paragraphs (b) and (c) of paragraph (5) shall apply to a delayed
re-enactment order as they apply to a replacement order.

(7)  Regulations 6, 7 and 8 shall not apply to the making of a revocation order, replacement order
or delayed re-enactment order.

Consolidation and minor orders

21.—(1)  In this regulation—
(a) “consolidation order” means an order which—

(i) revokes provisions of one or more existing orders;
(ii) re-enacts those provisions without any change of substance, other than changes

having one or more of the effects described in Part I of Schedule 4, and
(iii) has no other effect;

(b) “minor order” means—
(i) an order which has one or more of the effects described in Part I of Schedule 4 and

no other effect;
(ii) an order which is made under section 61 of the 1984 Act and under no other

provision; or
(iii) an order which relates solely to one or more parking places provided by means of

stands or racks for bicycles pursuant to section 63 of the 1984 Act; and

12

Page 92



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(c) “publication date” in relation to an order means the date on which a notice under
paragraph (4)(a) was published in respect of the order.

(2)  Part II of Schedule 4 shall have effect for the purpose of interpreting that Schedule.
(3)  The provisions of Parts II and III (except regulation 18 where appropriate) of these

Regulations shall not apply to a consolidation order or to a minor order.
(4)  The order making authority shall—

(a) within 14 days of making a consolidation order or a minor order, publish in a newspaper
circulating in the area in which any road or place to which the order relates is situated a
notice containing the following particulars—

(i) the name of the order making authority;
(ii) the title of the order;

(iii) if the order is a minor order, a brief statement of the general nature and effect of the order;
(iv) if the order is a consolidation order, a list of the orders consolidated by the order and,

so far as the order has one or more of the effects described in Part I of Schedule 4,
a brief statement of those effects; and

(v) a statement that documents giving more detailed particulars of the order are available
for inspection and a statement of the places at which they are so available and of the
times when they may be inspected at each place; and

(b) comply with the requirements of Schedule 2 as to the making of deposited documents
available for public inspection at the places specified in the notice under sub-paragraph (a)
for a period of 6 weeks beginning with the publication date.

(5)  No provision of a consolidation order shall come into force before the publication date.
(6)  No provision of a minor order shall come into force before the end of the period of 14 days

beginning with the publication date.
(7)  The provisions of this regulation are subject to those of regulation 24.

Experimental orders

22.—(1)  The provisions of regulations 7 (publication of proposals) and 8 (objections) shall not
apply to an experimental order.

(2)  No provision of an experimental order shall come into force before the expiration of the
period of seven days beginning with the day on which a notice of making in relation to the order
is published.

(3)  The order making authority shall comply with the requirements of Schedule 2 as to the making
of deposited documents relating to an experimental order available for public inspection.

(4)  Deposited documents shall be so made available, at the times and at the places specified in
the notice of making in relation to the experimental order, for a period beginning with the date on
which that advertisement is first published and ending when the order ceases to have effect.

Orders giving permanent effect to experimental orders

23.—(1)  This regulation applies where the sole effect of an order (“a permanent order”), which is
not an order made under section 9 of the 1984 Act, is to reproduce an continued in force indefinitely
the provisions of an experimental order or of more than one such order (“a relevant experimental
order”), whether or not that order has been varied or suspended under section 10(2) of the 1984 Act.

13

Page 93



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(2)  Regulations 6 (consultation), 7 (notice of proposals) and 8 (objections) shall not apply to
a permanent order where the requirements specified in paragraph (3) have been complied with in
relation to each relevant experimental order.

(3)  The requirements are that—
(a) the notice of making contained the statements specified in Schedule 5;
(b) deposited documents (including the documents referred to in sub-paragraphs (c) and (e))

were kept available for inspection in accordance with Schedule 2 throughout the whole of
the period specified in regulation 22(4);

(c) the deposited documents included a statement of the order making authority’s reasons for
making the experimental order;

(d) no variation or modification of the experimental order was made more than 12 months
after the order was made; and

(e) where the experimental order has been modified in accordance with section 10(2) of the
1984 Act, a statement of the effect of each such modification has been included with the
deposited documents.

(4)  In the application of regulations 10, 11 and 13 and Schedule 3 to a permanent order to which
regulations 6, 7 and 8 do not apply by virtue of paragraph (2)—

(a) the notices of making published in respect of each relevant experimental order shall be
treated as the notice of proposals published under regulation 7(1)(a) in respect of the
permanent order;

(b) any objection made in accordance with the statement included by virtue of paragraph (3)
(a) in the notice of making published in respect of a relevant experimental order shall be
treated as an objection duly made under regulation 8 to the permanent order.

Objections to Part IV orders under Schedule 5 to the Local Government Act 1985

24.—(1)  This regulation applies where the order making authority is a London authority or a
metropolitan district council and another such authority (“the other authority”) is required to be
consulted by virtue of paragraph 6(3)(c) of Part II of Schedule 5 to the 1985 Act in connection with
an order.

(2)  Where, by virtue of the provisions of this Part of these Regulations, regulation 7 does not
apply to an order, the order making authority shall nevertheless, before making the order, send to
the other authority a notice containing the particulars specified in Parts I and II of Schedule 1 and
the other authority may object to the order during the period beginning with the date on which that
notice is sent and ending 21 days later.

(3)  Any objection under paragraph (2) must be made in accordance with regulation 8(3) as if an
objection had been made in accordance with regulation 8(2).

PART V
NOTICES UNDER SECTIONS 35C AND 46A OF
THE ROAD TRAFFIC REGU LATION ACT 1984

Notices of variation

25.—(1)  In this regulation “a notice of variation” means a notice given by a local authority under
section 35C or section 46A of the 1984 Act.

14

Page 94



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(2)  Where a local authority proposes to give a notice of variation which would be likely to have
a direct effect on traffic, or any class of traffic, on a road for which it is not the traffic authority, the
local authority shall, before giving the notice, send a draft of it to the traffic authority for that road.

(3)  A notice of variation shall be given by publishing it at least once in a newspaper circulating
in the area in which the parking places to which the notice relates are situated at least 21 days before
it is due to come into force.

(4)  A notice of variation shall—
(a) specify the date when it is due to come into force;
(b) identify every parking place to which the notice relates;
(c) specify in respect of each such parking place—

(i) the charges payable for the use of the parking place at the date the notice is given;
(ii) the charges that will be payable when the notice comes into force.

(5)  Where a notice of variation relates to an off-street parking place, the local authority—
(a) shall cause a copy of the notice to be displayed in the parking place on the date on which the

notice is given and take all reasonable steps to ensure that it continues to be so displayed
and remains in a legible condition until the date on which it comes into force; and

(b) shall, if it thinks fit, cause additional copies to be so displayed in the parking place and in
roads giving access to the parking place.

(6)  Where a notice of variation relates to an on-street parking place, the local authority shall, if
it thinks fit, cause copies of the notice to be displayed in prominent positions in the road in which
the parking place is situated.

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Transport

Department of Transport
23rd September 1996

John Watts
Minister of State,

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Wales

Welsh Office
26th September 1996

Gwilyn Jones
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State,

15

Page 95



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

SCHEDULE 1 Regulations 7(1)(a) and (b), 17(2), 24(2)

PARTICULARS TO BE INCLUDED IN PRESS
NOTICES AND NOTICES UNDER REGULATION 24(2)

PART I
PARTICULARS TO BE INCLUDED IN A

NOTICE UNDER REGULATION 7, 17 OR 24(2)
1. The name of the order making authority.

2. The title of the order.

3. A brief statement of the general nature and effect of the order.

4. Where the order relates to a road, the name or a brief description of the road and, where
appropriate, a description of the length of it to which the order relates.

5. Where the order relates to an off-street parking place or a loading area, a brief description of
that place or area and of its location.

6. Where the order relates to a parking place and prescribes charges for its use or restricts the
times during which, or classes of vehicle for which, it may be used, a statement of those charges,
times or classes.

7. A statement that documents giving more detailed particulars of the order are available for
inspection and a statement of the places at which they are so available and of the times when they
may be inspected at each place.

PART II
PARTICULARS TO BE INCLUDED IN A

NOTICE UNDER REGULATION 7 OR 24(2)
8. A statement that all objections and other representations relating to the order must be made in

writing and that all objections must specify the grounds on which they are made.

9. The date by which objections to the order and other representations must be made and the
address to which they should be sent.

10. Where applicable, the additional matters prescribed by regulation 10(1).

PART III
PARTICULARS TO BE INCLUDED IN A NOTICE UNDER REGULATION 17
11. The date on which the order is to come into force.

12. Where the order to which the notice relates is an order which has been made under section 1,
6, 9, 19, 32, 37 or 38 of the 1984 Act or a designation order, a statement that, if any person wishes
to question the validity of the order or of any of its provisions on the grounds that it or they are
not within the powers conferred by the Act, or that any requirement of the Act or of any instrument
made under the Act has not been complied with, that person may, within 6 weeks from the date on
which the order is made, apply for the purpose to the High Court.

16

Page 96



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

13. Where applicable, the statements prescribed by regulation 23(3) and Schedule 5.

SCHEDULE 2 Regulations 3(1), 7(3), 21(4)(b), 22(3)

DEPOSITED DOCUMENTS

1. Subject to paragraph 3, the documents specified in paragraph 2 shall, so far as they are relevant,
be made available for inspection at the principal offices of the authority during normal office hours
and at such other places (if any) within its area as it may think fit during such hours as it may
determine for each such place.

2. The documents are—
(a) a copy of the relevant notice of proposals and, if the order has been made, of the relevant

notice of making;
(b) except where the order is one to which paragraph 3 applies, a copy of the order as proposed

to be made or as made (as the case may be);
(c) except where the order is one to which paragraph 3 applies, a map which clearly shows

the location and effect of the order as proposed to be made or as made (as the case may
be) and, where appropriate, alternative routes for diverted traffic;

(d) a statement setting out the reasons why the authority proposed to make the order including,
in the case of an experimental order, the reasons for proceeding by way of experiment and
a statement as to whether the authority intends to consider making an order having the
same effect which is not an experimental order;

(e) if the order varies, revokes, applies or suspends another order, a copy of that other order;
(f) if the order modifies, suspends or revokes regulations made or having effect as if made

under section 12 of the 1984 Act, a copy of those regulations;
(g) if the order has been made after the holding of a public inquiry, a copy of the report and

recommendations (if any) of the inspector; and
(h) where applicable, the additional documents specified in regulation 23(3)(e).

3. This paragraph applies to—
(a) an order which revokes another order and has no other effect;
(b) an order which relates to a parking place and whose only effect is to vary provisions of

another order relating to one or more of the following matters—
(i) the charges for the use of the parking place;

(ii) the time limits applicable to such use;
(iii) other conditions applicable to such use;
(iv) the classes of vehicle by which the parking place may be used.

SCHEDULE 3 Regulation 10(1) and (3)

PARTICULARS TO BE INCLUDED IN A NOTICE OF A PUBLIC INQUIRY

1. The title of the order.

2. The name of the order making authority.

17

Page 97



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

3. A statement which refers to the notice of proposals for the order and which indicates that a
public inquiry will be held in connection with the order.

4. A brief statement of the general nature and effect of the order and of the name or a brief
description of any road or other place to which the order relates.

5. The date, time and place of the inquiry and the name of the inspector.

6. A statement that documents giving detailed particulars of the order are available for inspection
and of the addresses at which those documents can be inspected and of the times when inspection
can take place at each address.

7. The address to which any written representations for consideration by the inspector may be
sent by any person wishing to make such representations.

SCHEDULE 4 Regulation 21(1)

MINOR ORDERS

PART I
EFFECTS OF A MINOR ORDER

1. The postponement for a period of not more than 6 months of the coming into force of any
provision of an existing order.

2. The variation of an order so that it includes exemptions in respect of disabled persons' vehicles
in accordance with regulation 4 of the Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Exemptions for Disabled
Persons) (England and Wales) Regulations 1986(16).

3. The variation of an order so as to confer on a traffic warden functions similar to those conferred
by the order on a constable.

4. The variation of an order so as to substitute a prohibition or restriction on the use of vehicles
having a maximum gross weight of 17 tonnes for an identical prohibition or restriction on the use
of vehicles having a maximum gross weight of 16.5 tonnes.

5. The variation of an order by substituting, for any reference to a vehicle adapted to carry 12
passengers or to a vehicle adapted to carry more than 12 passengers, a reference to a vehicle adapted
to carry more than 8 passengers.

6. The variation of a provision in an order—
(a) prohibiting or restricting the waiting or the loading or unloading of vehicles, or
(b) authorising the use of any part of a road as a parking place,

in so far as the variation is necessary to make the order compatible with any regulations made under
section 25 of the 1984 Act.

7. The variation of an order to the extent appearing to the order making authority necessary or
expedient as a consequence of the coming into force of—

(a) a designation order made under section 76(1) of the Road Traffic Act 1991 (special parking
areas in London); or

(16) S.I. 1986/1078, to which there are amendments not relevant to these Regulations.
18

Page 98

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1986/1078


Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(b) a designation order made under Schedule 3 to that Act (permitted or special parking areas
outside London).

8. The revocation or variation of a provision included in an order under section 35(1)(iv), 46(2)
(e) or 53(3) of the 1984 Act authorising a person to remove or arrange for the removal of a vehicle
from a parking place.

9. The variation of a provision included in an order under section 35 or 46(2) regulating the
method, or requiring the use of apparatus, by which any charges for the use of a parking place are
to be paid.

10. The prohibition of, or the revocation or variation of a provision in an order whose sole effect
is to prohibit, the riding of cycles or mopeds on a footbridge, in a pedestrian subway or on the
approaches to such a bridge or subway.

PART II
INTERPRETATION

11. In this Schedule—
“cycle” means a pedal cycle which is not a motor vehicle;
“excess charge” in relation to an on-street parking place has the same meaning as in section 46
of the 1984 Act and, in relation to an off-street parking place, means any sum payable as a
result of a vehicle remaining parked beyond the period for which payment has been made;
“maximum gross weight” has the same meaning as in the Traffic Signs Regulations 1994(17);
and
“moped” has the meaning given by paragraph 5 of Schedule 9 to the Road Vehicles
(Construction and Use) Regulations 1986(18).

SCHEDULE 5 Regulation 23(3)

STATEMENTS FOR INCLUSION IN A NOTICE OF
MAKING RELATING TO AN EXPERIMENTAL ORDER

1. That the order making authority will be considering in due course whether the provisions of
the experimental order should be continued in force indefinitely.

2. That within a period of six months—
(a) beginning with the day on which the experimental order came into force, or
(b) if that order is varied by another order or modified pursuant to section 10(2) of the 1984

Act, beginning with the day on which the variation or modification or the latest variation
or modification came into force,

any person may object to the making of an order for the purpose of such indefinite continuation.

3. That any such objection must—
(a) be in writing;
(b) state the grounds on which it is made; and

(17) Part I of S.I. 1994/1519.
(18) S.I. 1986/1078, to which there are amendments not relevant to these Regulations.

19

Page 99

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1994/1519
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1986/1078


Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

(c) be sent to an address specified for the purpose in the notice of making.

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Regulations)

These Regulations prescribe the procedure to be followed by local authorities in England and
Wales for making the main types of traffic and parking orders under the Road Traffic Regulation
Act 1984. The Regulations replace with significant modifications the Local Authorities' Traffic
Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1989 and the Local Authorities' Traffic Orders
(Procedure) (England and Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 1993. The main changes are referred
to below.
Regulation 4 specifies the orders to which the Regulations apply. Regulations 5 to 14 lay down the
procedure to be followed before making an order.
The main changes in regulation 6 (consultation), which is set out in tabular form, are new
requirements to consult operators of local bus services and, where applicable, London Regional
Transport, and the chief officers of the NHS trust providing the local ambulance service and of the
fire brigade in all cases where it appears that the order is likely to affect the passage on any road
of buses, ambulances or fire-fighting vehicles. There is also a new requirement in regulation 6 to
consult the Freight Transport Association and the Road Haulage Association in all cases.
Regulation 7 lays down the requirements for publishing proposals. Publicity in addition to the press
notice is now at the discretion of the local authority and the requirement to advertise proposals in
the London Gazette has been dropped except in the case of an order under section 6 of the 1984 Act.
The circumstances in which an authority must hold a public inquiry because of restrictions on loading
have been modified (regulation 9) and a public inquiry need no longer be advertised in the London
Gazette (regulation 10).
Regulations 15 to 18 deal with the making of an order. Regulation 16 (making an order and bringing
it into force) places a time limit on the making of an order of 2 years from the date on which notice of
proposals was first published. Regulation 17 (action after making) drops the requirement to advertise
notice of making in the London Gazette except in the case of orders orders made by a London
authority under section 6 or 9 of the 1984 Act.
Regulations 19 to 24 contain special provisions for certain orders. The main changes of substance
concern the simplification and rationalisation of the “minor orders” class (regulation 21 and
Schedule 4), of which there is now only one category in which loading bay orders, orders relating to
parking places consisting of racks or stands for bicycles and orders varying the means of payment of
parking charges are included, and the clarification of the procedures for experimental traffic orders
which cannot now be made permanent by the shortened procedure if they have been amended more
than 12 months after they were made (regulations 22 and 23).
There are no changes of substance to regulation 25 (notices of variation).
Schedules 1 to 3 specify the information to be contained in press notices, the documents relating
to an order to be deposited for public inspection and the particulars to be included in a notice of a
public inquiry. Schedule 5 lays down new requirements for information to be included in a notice
of making relating to an experimental traffic order.

20

Page 100



Document Generated: 2019-02-14
Status: This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

21

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102


	Agenda
	4 Is-bwyllgor Cyswllt â'r Cynghorau Cymunedol 13eg Mawrth 2019.
	8 Strategaeth Toiledau CBSC (Diweddariad).
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2

	9 Gorfodaeth Parcio Sifil CBSC - Gorchmynion Traffig (Diweddariad).
	Atodiad 1




